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1 APPEARANCES: EXAMINATION UNDER OATH OF NATHAN CARMAN
2 ON BEHALF OF BOAT U.S.: 2 DECEMBER 16,2016
3 DAVID J. FARRELL, ESQUIRE 3 PROCEEDINGS:
4 LIAM T. O'CONNELL, ESQUIRE 4 MR, SANTOS: This is the Deponent, Nathan
5 Farrell McAleer & Smith LLP 5 Carman. | know him personally and I can vouch that this
6 60 Washington Street 6 is the Nathan Carman.
7 Salem, Massachusetts 01970 q NATHAN CARMAN, the deponent. having been
8 978.744.8918 & satisfactorily identified and duly swom by the Notary
9 % Public, was examined and testified as follows:
10 ON BEHALF OF NATHAN CARMAN: 10 EXAMINATION
11 HUBERT SANTOS, ESQUIRE 11 BY MR. FARRELL:
12 Law Office of Hubert Santos 12 Q. Sir, could you state your name for the record?
13 57 Russ Street 1% A Yes. My name is Nathan James Canman,
14 Hartford, Connecticut 06106 14 . Andwhat -- When were you bom?
15 860.249.6548 15 A, [was bom on January 21st, 1994,
16 16 Q. Where do you live, sir?
17 17 A, leurrently live in Vemon, Venmont at 3043 Fort
18 12 Bridgman Road.
19 19 Q. Okay. Now, this is called an examination under
20 20 oath under your Boat U.S. policy. I'm going to be asking
21 21 you s number of questions.
22 22 1 you don't understand what I'm asking, please
23 23 stop me and seek clanification.
24 24 Will you be able to do thm?
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EXAMINATION UNDER OATH OF NATHAN CARMAN

Page 5 bPage 7
1 A Yes. 1 pame of the community college was Notthwestern Connectlicut
2 Q. And vou have to answer audibly so that the coun 2 Community College.
3 reporter can take down your words and my words and your 3 Q. Okay. And just generally, what were the stedies
4 lawyer's words so it we have a record of what we're 4 that you were engaged in an those collepes?
5 discussing here today. 5 A Much of my studies were gencral liberat arts.
G A. Okay. Somctimes Tean be given to speaking 6 Q. Okay.
7 soltly. So il you pick up on that, just point it out and 7 A, Falso took sonw courses in accounting and
8 IH speak up. 8 business.
@ Q. Thank you. Q. Okay.
10 MR, FARRELL: Vi sure that you'll Iet us 16 A, Inbusiness mathematics and so forh,
11 know if there's any problem. 11 Q. And doyou have plins to continue your colfege
z BY MR. FARRELL: 12 education?
13 Q. Now, there will be a book pul 1ogether by the 13 A, Atthis sime, thats on hold and | have o
14 cour teporter, o transcription of @l our discussions 14 jmmediate plans to coatinue my college education.
15 today, and you'tl have an oppertunity to read that 15 Q. And why is it on hokl!
16 afterwards. if you'd like. 16 AL Thave-- If's a personal devision that T made,
17 A, Ub-huh. 17 Q. Whatare they?
18 Q. Andyou can make cormections ke any 18 A F'monetsure |ean effectively say why Ive
19 mistransceiptions that are made where the count repaster 19 chosen mot to be attending college ot present, other than
20 might not have gotten the exact words down as you spoke 20 that | om currently employed, working for mysel,
21 them; is that okay? 23 renovating my house. | enjoy that work and that's what
22 A Yes 22 Pve chosen to be doing at this stage in my life
23 Q. Ckay. Otherwise, you've been sworm vnder vith 23 Q. Your employment is inrenovating your howse; is
24 and your testimony here will be true and aceurate (o the 24 that what I'm 10 understand?
Page 6 Page 8
1 bestof vour ability, correct? 1 A That's correct.
2 A Yes 2 Q. Okay. Sovou're notactually being paid. That's
3 Q. Tellme justa litke bit about your background. 2 how vour time s [iHed.
4 Tell me about your schooling. if you could. 4 A, That's comrect,
5 A, Sure, So where do you want me to start? 5 Q. Okay. And your house is at that address you just
3 Q. Welk did you graduate frons high school? & provided in Vemon?
7 A, Yes. | was - 1 did receive o high school 7T A Yesitis
8 diptoma. 8 Q. That's just over the Massachusetts line, isa't it?
9 Q. And where was that from? 9 A Yes,
10 A From Middletown High School. 10 Q. Okay. And when < Do you own that house”
11 Q. Okay. And have you had any schoofing alter that? i1 A ldo
12 A Yes. |have some college credits. 12 Q. When did you buy it?
13 Q. Where were they = Where'd yoe get fhiose college 13 A Lbought it in Oclober of - Fm trying Lo think.
14 eredits? 1¢ B owas either two or three Octabers ago that | purchased i,
15 A, A= | teok some courses at Central Connecticut 15 Q. How much did you pay for it?
16 State University. 16 A Ipaid approximately S70,000.
17 Q. Okay. 17 Q. Andbelore renoviting the house, had you been
18 A, And | also took courses at North - a community 18 employed®?
19 coflege in Connecticut. | think it was Northwesternn 18 A, Yes, | had been.
20 Connecticut Community College if iy meisory serves me. 20 Q. What had vou been duing?
21 Its in the norbwestem comer of the state. 21 A Fhad been working for Federab Express loading
2z Q. Somewhere in Litchfield County? 22 their trucks and their delivery vehicles in the meming.
23 A No,it's somewhere in - IU's very ¢lose o 23 Q. D you have o mongage on the house!?
24 Torington -- No, exeuse me. F'm very confident that the 24 AL No Ldonaet
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Page 2 Page 11
1 Q. How did vou pay for it? 1 Q. What kind of a lawn mower?
2 A, Ipaid eash forit. 2 A A Kubota ride-on lawn mower, et know the
3 Q. And where did the cash came from? 3 model,
4 AL linkerited moneys from my grandfather and used 4 Q. And when did you get that!?
S part of those moneys to purchase the house. 5 A, Fpurchused that - It was ¢ither September or
6 Q. Okay. Do you haveacar? 6 the month before -~ | purchased that late this year.
7 A ldo. 7 Q. September of 20167
& Q. But-- And vou just told us belore we started 8 A, Yes, approximately September of 2016, May have
o that vou teft your driver's license in Venmont in your 2 been a month or two before, but net more than that.
10 walla? 10 Q. Okmy. Have vou had any dicsel -- Have you had
11 A, Correet, 11 any other dicsel cquipnient that we hiven't discussed?
12z Q. Okay. What Xind of car do you drive? iz A. Nol lo my recollection.
12 A. Bdrve a Ford F-430 pickup truck. 13 Q. Not that you've owned?
14 Q. Pickup tnuck, did you say? i4 A, No
15 A Yes, 15 Q. Huaveyou worked on diesel equipment otlier than
16 Q. Whendid you buy that? 16 what we've tulked about, besides your boat?
17 A. Fpurchased -- When did | buy that? 1 bougln 17 A, Notthat Trecail. And yes, [ have owned the
18 it-- 1 wantto say | bought it earlier this year. | 18 boat, as well as the lawn wower and the truck,
19 don't think | bought it -« 1 know for a fact I bought it 19 Q. Okay. And the truck was only subsequent to the
20 late last year. 1bought it sometime last year. 20 sinking of your boat? You bought the Ford 430 pickup
21 Q. What kind of engine does it have? 21 diesel afier the boat sank?
22 A, Ithas adiesel engine. Aside from that, Fdon’t 22 A. No. bought the Ford 450 pickup dicsel late
23 know the details of it 23 last year -- o7 some -- [ don't know when last year. |
24 Q. Okay. What car -- What car did you drive before 24 bought it some time last year.
Page 10 Page 12
1 that? 1 Q. In20157
2 A, Phad a Ford F-350 prior to purchasing the F<450 2 A Yo
3 and | did shll lave the F-350. 3 Q. Doyoukuow what month?
4 Q. Youstilldo have it? 4 A, No
5 A Well camently if's et in my custody, b yes, | 5 Q. Didyouwork onit? Did you do mechanical work
& sull own it & on that wuck?
7 Q. Okay. Whose cusledy is it in? 7 A. Ldon't recall having done any mechanical work on
& A ICs miy understanding that it is cumently in the 8 it Dknow Iput oil in it, but tat's all.
9 possesion of law enforcement. T don't know which agency. g Q. Okay.
10 Q. Aud what kind of engine did it hawve? 10 A Myself that is.
11 Ao A gasoline eagine. | don't know other than that, 1: Q. Okay.
12 Q. Okay. And prior to that Ford 350, what did you i2 A. 1 did have occasion Lo hire a ganage to do
12 drive? 13 mechanical work on it
14 A. A Toyota Camry hybrid. 14 Q. Okay. Regarding the boat that sank, what
15 Q. Okay. Was that dicsel? 15 mechanical work did you do on it?
16 A, No, it was a hybrid. 16 A, I'mirying to think here of the wark that 1 did
17 Q. Gasoline electric? 17 on it amd wiat would be mechanical.
18 A, Yes. 18 Q. When I say mechanical, I should probably define
19 Q. Have you diaven any ether dicsel trecks or 19 what Fm talking about.
20 wvebhieles? 20 Amyihing that had o do with diesel engine.
21 A, Nou 21 anything to do with moving pats. Basically any work thi
22 Q. Doyou own any other diesel equipment? 22 you did en the beat itself, whether it's o hull or
23 A, Yes. Fowna lnwn mower that his a divsel 23 machinery or clectioaics or wiring or anything. I'm
24 cngine. 24 interested in knowing what kind of work you did yourselt’
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Page 13 Page 15

1 on (e bt as opposad o what a Boatyard may have done. 1 the tish box, he had cut ou the bulkhesd (o fit around

2 A Sure, So il could answer more generully and 2 the fish box.

3 suy evenvthing that Dreesll having done on the boat, thea 3 Q. Okay.

4 vou eain detenmine what of thae is mechanical. 4 Ao And 1 -- So there was part of the bulkhead to

5 Q. Sure, Yeah, Some of it might be mechanical, 5 part, part of tie bulkbead o starboard, and 1here was no

6 sonie of it might be other type of work, but ' interested & contact or there was very fimited contact between the deck

7 in knowing what you did yoeursell as providing physical 7 and the bulkhead

8 fabur on improveinents or maintenance of the baat that 8 Q. Okay. Because it was only three-quarter inch?

9 sank 2 A Yes. but vou could see space between the deck and
10 A, Sure. Solinstlled GPS chanplotters and 10 the edge of the bulkhead.

11 related aceessorivs, such as radar and an antenna for the 11 Q. Okay.
12 chinplotters. Tinstalled the VHF radio onboard the boat 12 A, So the buikhead was not supporting the deck.
13 gps well as — as well as -- 1 attempted 1o do the 13 Q. Okay.
14 wwtopilot mysell, then when | realized | wasn't 14 A, And @ removed those two pieces of plywxl, one to
15 comfortable with that. | hired a marina {o complete the 15 port of the fish box and one to starboard in order 1o gain
16 joh, which they did. 16 space to store the rods in that area beside the fish box.
17 Q. Okay. 17 Q. Under deek?
18 A. What else did | do? 1-- Well, | hired someone 18 A Yes
19 o chansge -- to change the prop, so | didn't de that 19 Q. Andhow did you aecess those under deck
20 myscell. 20 cumpartments?
21 What else did 1 do? | know | did other work on 21 A, From the engine compartment. So immediately
22 it Imtrying w reeall what did over the past just 22 forwand of the wheethouse, there was & hateh that could be
23 about a year of having owned it. 23 picked upand -+
24 | changed the radio a couple times o get one 24 Q. Immediately forward of the wheelhouse?
Page 14 Page 16

1 that | was happy with. That was the electronics. | added 1 A Yes.

2 two seats in the wheelhouse because when D purchased the 2 Q. Wasitadeck hatch?

3 boat. it lad no seats, 1did remove the tim tabs, 3 A, Yes, there was a bateh in the deck that could be

4 | had alsa iaken ot two hutkheads -- Not twa - 4 litted up.

5 1 had taken oud two halves of the bulkhicad thit was 5 Q. And that wis forward of the house itsclf?

6 forward af the engine and aft of the anchor locker, 6 A, That's correet.

7 Q. Let me stop you there, 7 Q. Okay.

8 Su this is a bulkhead that onginally was forward g A, Se forward of the house and aft ol the 1ish box,

9 of the eagine, but aft of the chain locker? 9 there was a hatch that vou could pick up and gret - And
10 A, Yes, or the anchor locker. 10 that was also iminediately forward of the engine, So you'd
11 Q. Okay. And you suy you took two halves of i out? 11 get down and that's how you coukd access the engine space
12 Ao Well, I don't know it the bulkliead was part of 12 and wm itaround. So instead of facing alt towards the
13 the boat's oniginal design. What | removed was clearly 13 enpine when yow're facing forward, you thea have the fish
14 installed by Brian Woods wien he did the refit of the 14 box right in front of you, and the bulkhead that T removed
15 boat. Iwas - [Lappeared W be marine plywosd. 15 1o port and stacboard was beside the fish box. So you
16 approximately three quarters of an inch thick, a-glassed 16 could slide rods on either side.

17 tedbe iwibl, And there was a {ish box that was 17 Q. So wiat was the diomeeter ot the latch forward of
18 approximately three feei wide and approximately three leet 1g the wheelhouse?
19 deep 192 A, Ivwas not circular, it was rectangular. I'd be
20 Q. And this was forward of the engine? 20 ustinmting very roughly, but maybe two feet by three fect.
21 A Yes. 21 Q. And the three feet i athwartship?
2z Q. Okav. 22 A, Ldont know what addewactship means, Three feel
2 A And that fish box ran right through the bulklicad 23 gt o starboard. two feet forward and alt,
24 so it was already cut out. So when Brian Woods installed 24 . Okay. And how lung were the rods - Ts thit
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Page 17 Page 19
1 where you would put the vods. through that hateh to lay 1 And then also a copy of the Feeney suniey.
2 them down in the bilge area? s that -- Am | following 2 A Ub-hub
3 this? 3 ) Okay. Sowemade that Exhibit 2.
4 A, Yes. Tolay them down beside the fish box, 4 11 we Jook at the Feeney survey and we ook at
5 . Okay. The fish box long was running sort of fore 5 Pages 18 and 19 -- Minbe 19 sould Be o good place to
6 and afi? 6 slan,
7 A. Correcl, 7 Could 3ou on that uverview vf the hull -- ef the
g Q. Andwhat was the dimensions of (he fish box? & bout draw me the hatch that you're alking about and the
9 A, DInever measured it In the -- Brian Woods told 9 fish box and where the bulkhead forward of the enpine had
10 me that it was three feet wide by three feel deep by eipht 1O e that you removed?
11 feei long. 11 A Sure, [actually think there's a different
1z Q. Oh,cight feel long? 12 diagram that shows where the wheelhonse was and that would
13 A Yes 13 be casier for me to go ofof,
14 Q. Okay. Letme just -- Let me stop you there, 14 Qo ldontknow,
15 okay? i5 A, T'm not positive, but if there is - Because ]
16 A, Uhhuh 16 weuld be hasing my assessments of where things were
17 MR. FARRELL: I'm going to make -- IT'] 17 located oft of the position of the wheelhause. 1 may be
18 could, we'll mark this Exhibir 1, 18 misaken.
19 These are the documents that you provided by 12 Q. Asleast L don't rementber secing one in the
20 e-mail Tast night. L'l run through them quickly with 20 sunvey. There might be some other document that has it
21 you, 21 A, Alfright, Well, fet me just draw the wheetheuse
22 (Exhibit No. 1, E-Mailed Documems, marked 22 over the engine.
23 for identification}. 23 Q. Yeah, that's fine. Now, which one are we using”
24 24 Are we doing Page 197
Page 18 Page 20
1 BY MR. FARRELL: 1 A Yes,
2 Q. Youratomey sent us 2 bunch of deciments last 4 Q. Okay. Why don' | take the clip off and miake i
3 night, which first, there were a seeies of work -- repair 3 fitlle casier?
4 onders from Pojim Judith Marina - 4 AL Yues, please.
5 MR. FARRELL: Actually, you know what? Let's 5 Q. Okay. Go ahead,
6 goto Exhibit 2. Fve got the wrong stack, & A, (Deponent complying), Fhat's my best
7 (Exhibit No. 2, Repair Orders and E-Mails, 7 approximation.
B puwked for idemilication). @ Q. Okay. Thank you.
9 BY MR. FARRELL: Bl So you were able to store fishing rods tore and
10 Q. Sol'mgeing o hand you what's been marked as 1¢ afl where vou hiad taken out these bulkheads?
11 Exhibit 2. This is a series of repair orders and it ended 11 Ao That's correet.
12 with some c-nrils regarding wamanty work and an oil teak. iz Q. Okay,
13 Sor here are the e-mvails, 13 A, Soonthis side - So when yvou take the hatch
i4 A, | have those e-mails here. 14 oY, there was space immediately accessible on either
15 MR, SANTOS: Tim Green? 15 side, And then once the bulkheads were removed. the space
16 MR, FARRELL: Yeah, I think that's figla. 16 rght here became accessible. And prior to that, it hak
17 Yes, Tim Green. 17 bwen innceessible.
18 MR. SANTOS: Okay. 18, (kay. Now, there was a hinge contraption
1¢ BY MR. FARRELL: 1% regarding the house tat lifted it up off the deck?
20 Q. And then anetler c-nwil contatned a fetter from 200 A Yes
21 your kawyer dated Cctober | 2th, 2016 - 21 Q. And coudd you access the engine that win?
22 A, Ub-huh. F¥] A Yes.
23 . -- o Attomeys Nardini and Boyle. And then 2% Q. Okay. And where was the - Where was it hinged?
24 there wus u cruise and ateline licket that was attached. 24 Onthwe tore or aft?
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Page 21

A, It was hinged forward right here.

Q. Okay. And then what was -- Was there hydvaudics
there for that?

A, There were no hydraulics. So the hinges were -
There were two hinges. One approxinutely on either side
of the hateh 1o the engine space and there were two
Lenco - Lenco pistons that were clecwrically oprerated
that were supposed Lo rrise the lateh, They never worked
properly Trom the time that 1 got the boat becanse there
were two difTerent switehes, one for each pisten, and il
the pistons weren't in perfect synelronization, then one
waoukd break and it would have to be seplaced.

Q. Okay.

A, And o the time of the accident, one of those
pistons was not [unctioning.

. Okay.

A, But all that meant was that [ wouldn's have been
able 1o raise the wheelhouse vp (e gain aceess to the
epgine.

Q. Could you Lift it manually?

A, No.

Q. No?

A. The weight of the wheelhouse would Tave prevented
it from being lifted by hand.

Page 23

0. Ok
2 A, Sittiag -- There was 2 hateh in the deck here, a
3 hateh here and a hateh diere. Other than that, the deck
4 was closed.
5 Q. Okay.
6 Ao Soldon't know what bulkbeads, it any. were
7 present there, There may lave been butkheads aft that ]
8  cither was ot aware of o ddon't recall having been there
2 right now,
10 (. Sl you were in the engine compartment, let's
11 say vou lified the wheelhouse up fnward and you were in
12 the engine compartinent and were looking aft, what would
13 yousee? Or was there anything that would block your view
14 of the transom?
15 A, Yes There was a fuel tank here.
16 . Okay. And why don't you -- Why don't you just
17 show me where the fuel tanks were?
18 A Sure. Soit would have been on -- And again, the
19 exact placement is very rough. | don'’t know relative to
20 the engine il @ would have been -- the back would have
21 been fusther forward or -
22 MR, SANTOS: Keep your voice up,
23 BY MR, FARRELL:
24 (L Justa couple questions.

Page 22

Q. Okay. Butil'vou were o liltit, itwould Hft
forward and it would he open then on the stem edye?

A. That's comrect

Q. Okay. Soif you were to lift the iteh up -- |
shouldnw’t say that. Strike tlt

It you were to lifi the wheellwouse and tift it
forward on the pistens, weuld you also be uble to slide
fishing rods up on the starboard and port side?

A, No, because there were Tuel tanks here and bere,
On cither side of the engine, there were two large fuel
Lanks.

€. Okay. Were there other balkheads in the boar?

A, Yes. There was one forward of the fish box und
aft that divided the bilge from the anchor locker.

Q. Sowhy don't you draw that one in there?

A, (Deponent camplying). 1 assame that this
bulklead did not ge all te wiy down 1o the keed because
the water from the anchor kwker Fhefieve drained into
1he rest of the bilge, but that did go across.

Q. Soit wasn't watertight?

A. 1 don't believe so bevause my --

Q. Fhe bulkhead -- Fhe torward butklicad?

A Vdon't believe Qs was watertight. 1 believe
that the way the anchor locker drained was into the keel,

Page 24

1 A Uh-huh

2 (3 Sovoute unaware of any butkheads afi of the

3 engine compartment space?

4 A, Tthink tha there were or may have been

& bulkheads all ofthe engine compartment space. Fdont
6 kaow where and i not positive if there were,

7 Q. And you don't know then if they were watertight

8 ornot watertipht?

9 A, When D was purchasing the boat from Brian Woods,
10 [asked him il any of the bulkheads that he instalbed were
11 watertight, and he informed me that they were not,

12 Q. Okay. Now, in this area forward on -- of the

13 eagine, with the fued tanks on the starboard and port side
14 of the engine. what weatkl hive prevented your putting
15 fishing rods from the engine compartment space forward to
16 the starboard and post sides of the fish box?

17 AL Sothesides of the Bish box were -

18 Q. And | should say this, atier you toek the -

19 Alter you teok Mose starboard and port side of the

20 bulkhead oot -

21 A Ol -

22 Q. Did yoeu have aecess 1o that arca from the engine
23 space?

24 A Yes

6
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Page 25 Page 27
1 Q0 Youdud? Okay, A And from this batch immediately aft of the
2 Did you ever use the engine space ipping the 2 wheelhouse, could reach forward and access that filter.
3 wheelbouse up to put s in forward? Or did you simply 3 Q. Okay. And you hud two bilge pumps on there -- on
use the hateh to stow your fishing rods? 4 that boat?
A, No, Lonly taok fishing rods in and out from 5 A, Yes, there was one pung in the bzarette and one
betow deck through the hateh in front of the wheelhouse. 6  pump that was tocated here that had a pipe or a tube that
Q. Okay. And the three hatches that yow've drawn in 7 went down into the keel. That's bow it sucked water,
circnlar Bishion on the after deck, what -- did you ever 8 Q. Okay. Was that a low point?
touk in those lutches? N W
Ao Yes, 16 Q. Okay. And where did the bifge pumps dischargze
Q. Okav. And what did you sec in -~ And what did 11 overboard?
you leamn from tooking in those hatches? 12 A, They discharged overboard at a standpipe in this
A, The aft-maost hateh, my understanding is that area 13 comer. 1 believe that standpipe is noted. | think it's
is called the lazaretie, 14 noted here. That's the standpipe ~
Q. Okay. 18 Q. skt BP?
A, bowas where the rudder shafi came through the 16 A, Yuah, that's where the bilge pump is discharged.
boat. 17 Q. Okay. Why dent you just cirele that?
Q. Okay. 18 MR. SANTOS: So that’s on Page 187
A, And there was a bilge pump there, And thal's all 19 THE DEPONENT: Yes.
{he -- So there was the rudder, the bilge pump and then 20 BY MR. FARRELL:
the nidder angle indicator for the autopilow 21 Q. Okay.
Q. Okay. 22 A, Soithere was a standpipe that had a tube Hiat
A o thie hateh aft of the wheelbouse on the port 23 went out the aft section.
side - 24 Q. Okay. Do you know how thick the trunsem wias?
Page 26 Page 28
1 Q. Yes 1 A Noldonot
2 Ao --there was a bilge punp, there was the 2 Q. Did you replice one of the bilge pumps the day
3 raw-waler washdown pump, there was a seacock for the 3 before the sinking?
4 engine cooling. 4 A 1did.
5 Q. Okay. 5 Q. Which bilge pump did you replace?
6 A, And ascacock for the raw-water washdown pump. 6 A Ireplaced the bilge pump that was aceessible
7 Q. Did you mention that twice just now? 7 from the port circular hateh,
8 A L mentioned the pump and the seacock fer the & Q. Okay Ther - But there was also a bilge pump
9 pump. 9 aft that was accessible thraugh the stem haeh?
10 ). Okay. Wha instathed the raw water -- raw 10 A, There was.
11 saltwater washdown punp? 11 Q. Bid you work on that bilge pump at ol during
12 A, linstalled the pump, Poing Judith Marina 12 your ownership of the vessel?
13 installed the sescock that the pump drew water from. 13 Ao Yes Bdid. 1--The -- This pump had o --
14 Q. Okayv. Gouahead. 14 Q. You're talking sbout the one at the stem?
15 And then the one that's more midship? 15 A, That’s correct,
16 A, From this hatch Jooking aft, you could see (he 16 Q. Ul-lwh,
17 fuel tank. Looking stavight down, you could see the keel. 17 A, There was a discharge tithe from the pump to a
18 And leoking forward, you conld see the engine. This hateh 18 fitting somewhere hetow deck or -+ 1 shoulda't say
19 wis usefitl for bring able 10 reach forward and access e 19 somewhere below deck -- just below deck at midship, and
20 - the filter For the bilge pump. There was @ puip 20 that fitting ked o be teat camse up over the -« across
21 predection filter to -- that was designed to keep the pump 21 the transom and into (he standpipe.
22 from sucking in solid debiis. bowosld get caught in the 22 il replaced the tube Teading from tie pump w
23 filter before it mined the pump, That was the intent. 23 the - to the pipe during my ownership of the bom, |
24 Q. Okay. 24 dont remember it that tube had water i it that troze or

=L ERETHE A

Legal Services

7 (Pages 25 to 28)

=L

265 Franklin 81, Suite 1702 | Boston, MAD2110
G17.846.8100 | blacklabellegalservices.com




EXAMINATION UNDER OATH

OF NATHAN CARMAN

Page 29 Page 31
1 if the other tube that was for the plumbing for the other i 0. Okay.
2 bilge pump had water in it that froze, and so when the 2 A, Ldisconneeted the dischiarge hose from that pump.
3 pump was actuated, water leaked out, so it needed to be 3 Q. Okav.
4 replaced. 4 A, Teonnected that hose to the disclirge hose from
5 1 think what may have happened -- P'm pretty sure 5 the port midship bilge pump beeause the bose Trom e port
6 that this pump -- & midship bilge pump to the standpipe had ruptared and the
7 Q. You're talking about the forward one on the port 7 port midship bilge pump was more frequently used.
8 side? 8 Se 1 then replaced - | had taken ofV the
9 A, That's correct. The forward one on the port 9 nuptireed hose and | replaced -
10 side, which was plum below deck back te the lazareite, 10 Q. The ptured hose being tie one From the port
11 experienced a freezing of water in the tube in the 11 bilge pung to the stndpipe?
12 lpzarette that caused thal pump -- excuse me - that pipe 12 A Comeet.
13 {0 ruplure. 13 Q. Okay,
14 Q. What was the pipe made of? 14 A, There was a -- And Lrephaced the hose - P
15 A, N was & thin plastic. 35 trying to recall - I trying 1o commnicate as clewly
16 Q. Wasit rubbery or was il PYC? 16 as possible.
17 A, No,it's very similar (o a -- to a washing 17 And then Thad o go o the Home Depat, so there
18 machine discharge pump. 18 was a couple hours or a couple days, | don't recall how
19 Q. Okay. 19 ong it took me w get the replacement pipe, which | then
20 A. Thin, kind of like an accordion efastic, 20 comneeted from the pump to the wbe that went over the
21 Q. Okay. And it was from the port bilge pump 21 wansomn and down.
22 going aft that you say froze up? 22 . Sothatwas fixing the stem discharge hose?
23 A, Yes. That pipe froze and ruptured, and so | had 23 A, Canovou clarify what yow mea by stem dischage
24 moved -- Yes. 24 hose?
Page 30 Page 32
1€, Okav. Sowhat was the problen wilh the sties 1 . Thestem bilge pump had a discharge hose, as |
2 hilge pump? 2 understand it, that went to the standpipe in the starboard
3 A, L= 30 Pmorecalling correetly, and this was 3 quarer oa the ransom.
4 something that happened in - Fm doing my best to recall 4 A Yes.
5 correctly, but this was something that happened many 5 Q. For some reason, you disconnected that and
€ months ago. & commected it instead w the discharge bose from the pon
7 [ moved the hose from the after bilge pump 1o the 7 bilge pumgp.
& midship bilpe pump so that that pump would be working, and g A Wiat happened was the discharpe hose from the
S then [replaced the pipe, 9 pan bilge pump froze and theretore, it needed 1o by
190 So 1 don' reeall exactly what | did in 1 think 16 rephaced. As o temporary fix before ) eould get the
11 it was February or January of this vear. Tknow that | 11 replacement hose, | disconneoted the hose from the att
12 chamged one o1 both of tose two pipes. Fdon'twant to 12 hikge pump and connevted it 1o the port midship bilge pump
13 try to recall something that P not confident 1 ean 13 hose. And then | was able o go get the replacement hose.
14 pecall with precision and pet it wrong. 14 The two hoses fiom the midship bilge pump and the aft
15 Q. Okay. P justalittle confused. Tm-- Lets 15 bilge pump was identical.
16 start with the after hilge punp. 16 And so onee Thad the replacement hose, 1
17 When didd you work on il to the best of your 17 reeonnveted it to the aft bilge pump and to the discharge
1& ability? 18 - the {itking for the discharge, and they were metal
12 A, ltwowld have been areund February, 19 tubes that s above the deck along the taussom to the
20 Q. 0Or2ote? 20 standpipe.
21 A Yes, 21 . The discharge hose tan above deck?
27 Q. And what was it you needed -+ What did you do w 22 A There was metal piping tiat v above deck and
%3 the alter bitge pumyp? 23 that wis conneeted (o the phunbing from the bilge punps -
24 A, 1did nothing 1o the afler bilge pump itselt, 24 This is the way Brian Woods bad desipned it - by thin
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Page 33 Page 35
1 plastic tubes that were very simifar 1o the sortof whe 1 Did you test it to make sure that it was working?
2 that 1 washing machine discharge goes through. 2 A, Hdid,
3 Q. Doyouhave any pictures of that’? 3 Q. Howdid you do tha?
4 A, ldouot have any pictures ol it 4 A There had been same water in the bitge and once |
5 Q. Okay 5 had installed the pumyp. the water was pumped out, which
& A, Unless they happen to be in the swivey, & indicated that the pump was working.
7 Q. Okay. Soon the day before the sinking, what -- 7 Q. Okay. And what abow the after bilpe pump, was
8 Tell me exactly what work you did on - Is it the port 8 that still functioning?
9 bilge pump? 9 A. Tothe best o my knowledge, it was.
1C MR SANTOS: The day before? 10 Did you ever testit?
11 MR FARRELL: Yeah. L1 Ao 1did not.
12 A, Yes, The port bilge pump was not sucking water. 2 Q. Was there any way o test -- Wiere was the float
13 The motor in the pump would wm o, but it would net suck 13 switeh for the after bilge pump?
14 water out of the bilge and so | - To me, that indicated B A, The after bilge pump did not have a tloat switch.
15 the impeller was bad. 15 Inwas of the type where the pump and the intake are one
16 So 1 removed the pump and | purchased a new pump, 16 unit and it was silling flat on the deck.
317 which | installed in place of the pump that I removed. ) 17 Q. Andso I'msorry, did you ever test that one?
18 then purchased a replacement impeller for the pump that | 18 A, ldid not,
19 removed. In the process of changing the impeller, 1 19 Q. Andwas there any way 1o distinguish --
20 confimed that that was the problem with the pump that | 20 A, Canljustclarify? When @say testin 1did
21 removes), that it had a bad mnpelter. 21 hiear the motor ren on that pump. I never saw it suck
22 Q. Okay. 22 water beeause | had never seen -- 1 had never attempted to
23 A Solputina new impetler with - right at the 23 conling that it secked water.
24 counter of the West Marine where | putchased the impelter, 24 Q. Did vou cver, when you heard it ranning, look at
Page 34 Page 36
1 asking the stere clerk o walk e through the steps of how 1 the discharge pipe fo see if it was pumping water
2 tochanpe the impetler. He watked me through those steps, 2 overbeand?
3 that's how | changed the impeller, And |just stored the 3 A, No, Ldid nat, | -- No, 1did not.
4 pumy that | removed in the fish box as a backup, And | 4 (. Okav. And the one that you -- The extra spare,
5 It instalted the new pump that | purcliased in plice of 5 old bilge pump that you stored in the [ish box was not
& the pump that § removed. & connected, it was just there incase vou newded it?
7 Q. And did that have a - What kid of mechanism was 7 A, That's correvt.
8 there for the port pump bilge pump to determine there was 8 Q. Were-- And was the -- Was the bilge pump on the
9 water to pump? Was there a ffom switch or anything like 9 port side readily aceessible to you in removing the hateh?
10 tha? 10 A, Yoy, it was.
11 AL Yes, there was i Aoat switch that was wired to 11 Q. Right down there below it
12 the pump. 12 A That's -« It wasn'Cimmiediately below, Tt was
13 Q. And was it one of these white plastic things that 13 jusi-- So there was a picce of a two-by-six or
14 floats up and down? Or how would you describe it? 14 rwa-by-cight piece of pressure treated wood naning fore
15 A, [Iuwas white plastic and it had two arms, one was 15 wali.
16 desipned to siton the bottom of the keel and the other 16 Q. Astringer?
17 was buoyant. And so when water in the keel rose, the 17 A, Astringer. Just to the port side of where the
18 buooyanl arm woukd rise, ¢losing the cireuit. 18 hatch was.
1g Q. Okay. And then it would wmon? 19 Q. Okay.
20 A Yes 20 A Andibe pump wis serewed 1o that stringer.
21 . And then when it goes Nat, it woukd e off? 21 Q. Okay.
22 A, Cormeet, 22 A, So it was readily accessible
2 Q. Okay. Sothat -- That was the day belore the 23 Q. Certainly within arm's lengih?
24 sinking. 24 A, Easily,
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Page 37 Page 39
1 Q. Okay. And where was the washdown thin-hudl from 1 intended for conpecting pumps tothe - for pressarized
2 there? 2 water systems.
3 A, The washdown -+ When we say the washdown 3. Okay.
4 theu-lll, that was -- 4 A Andif Teoukl just take a moment to ¢lanly
5 Q. Whydon't - Okay. 5 because we did talk about butkbeads before?
[ A, So it we can lind the eppine seacoek? 3 Q. Yep.
7 Q. think maybe we have 10 look at the other 7 A. I belicyve that -~ Now that we've spoken abowl
8 diagram. 8 this specific arva, I've potten my mind into this space, 1
9 MR, SANTOS: What page arc we on? & believe that this part, which Pve drawn perpendicular 1o
10 THE DEPONENT: We're on 18 now. 10 the stringer, was a batkhead.
11 A, And no. 11 can dhraw here i circle of the 1z Q. Okay, And did you have reason to think that it
12 hately? 12 ways watertipght?
13 Q. Okay. 13 A, No.o Aslsaild, when 1asked Brian Woods ifany
14 A, That's the hatch. 14 of the bulkbeads were watertight, be inforned me they were
15 Q. This is the port teh? 15 not. And nothing | saw indicated otherwise.
16 A, Yus. this is the port hateh immediately an of 16 (). Now,what was the diameter of that hose between
17 the port fuel tank. 17 the mw-water pump and the washdown pump?
18 Q. Okay. 18 A. Approximately five-cighths of an inch. It could
19 A, Thereis a stringer here. 19 have been plus or minus one-cighth of an inch.
20 Q. Andwhy don't you putan F for forward? 20 Q. Okay, And how was it attached to the raw-witer
21 A, (Deponent complying). 21 washdown scacock?
22 Q. Okay. 22 A, The mw-water washdown seacock hada - 4
23 A. There's a stringer here wih the bilge pump 23 threaded end that a fitting was serewed into, and thiat
24 attached and there is a seacock approxineely here for the 24 fitting had a male. So there was a - [Uhad a male end
Page 38 Page 40
1 engine intake, ’ 1 on the other side that tie raw - that the hese was put
2 Q. Okay. 2 over and two elamps were used 1o secure the hose to the
3 A. Parden my spelling of engine. 3 fitting.
3 And there is another seacock somewhere forwand of 4 Q. And how was it conmeeted w e washdown pump?
5 the engine intake approximately here. It may have been a 5 A, Inasimilar manner. The pemp had come with
& bit closer o the eenter line or something, bt & littings, us best §recall, for connecting the hose to the
7 approximitely here. 7 pump tself. And again, the comection between the
8 Q. And that was installed by Point Judith Mavina? 8 fitting and the hose was a male end with a pump over top
9 A, Yes, it was. 2 wd two clamps.
10 Q. Okay. 1¢ Q. Andbetween the scacock and the washdown pump,
11 A, Forthe - Well, for the mw-water washdown. 11 how much of a distance was -- How long was the hose?
12 Q. Andwhere was the raw-water washdown pump? 12 A, Itwasn'ta great distanee, Approsimately 18
13 A, That was here, There was - | don't remember i 13 jnches. |wouldn' say more than 24.
14 it was o bulkhead or a stringer. 11 was some kind off 14 Q. Okay. Andthot was casily accessible from
15 picce of wood extending this way. And the raw-water 15 yeaching into the hatch with your arm?
16 washdown pump would have been there. 16 A ltwas
17 Q. Can | take a look al tht, My. Cannan’? 17 Q. Okay. And was there a wm-ofY vabve or lever on
18 A, Youwmay. 18 the intike or the seacock Ty the washidown pump?
19 Q. And so - And what -- what connected the 19 A, Yes. There was a lever on the seaceck itself
20 maw-wiler washdown to the washdown pump? 20 Q. Ol have you Giken any medications, drugs o3
21 A A hose 21 alcohod of any sos. preseription or other kinds of drugs
22 Q. Whitt kind of hose? 22 that would afieet your testimany tiday”
23 A, Ahose -- A plastic hose thut 1 had purcliased m 23 A, No, Thave not.
24 West Marine that Twas told by the West Marine stafl was 24 (3. What aboat your -- Tell nwe about your prior
10 (Pages 37 to 40)
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Page 41

baoating experience before (his boat.
A, Su prior to purcliasing this boat, Fil walk you

[

Page 43

A Pdontbelieve so, [ know you can't operate i
large ship with the permit, bt §-- Any serof -1

3 hack anti-chronologically, helieve it's o permil to operate any sort of recreational
4 My mom and I had a Grady-White Seafarer that we 4 hoat. | know for a fact that the JC that 1 purchased was
5 co-owned, We had owned that boat for a number of years g well within any size limit that may be on that pennil.
& und used it a ot Mostly putting in at Stonington, at 6 (3. Okay. Show me on this where the fleat switel was
the hoat ramp in Stenington and going aut o Block Island 7 lor the port bilge pump.
8 snd fishing around Bleck Island. We did do other things 8 A, Mowasin the keel, ght areuad there.
9 with e beat in the Long Iskand Sound area and we even g ). When did you, before the sinking, last check
10 took it up to New Hampshire anee where we spent a couple 10 thw?
11 of days boating near Hampton Beach, 11 A, What do you mean by check?
12 Q. Okay. And how long did you operate that boat? 12 Q. Scethat it was funciioning.
13 A, How long -- 13 A, Well, the switeh -« When | replaced the pump, it
14 Q. Youknow, how many years did you operate it? 14 was actuated by the switch. And when the water level got
15 A, My mom and F owned the boat — [ want to say that 15 low envugh, the switch tumed itoff.
16 we purchiased it when 1 was 18, 1 may have been a year or 16 Q. Okay. When was the last time you visually
17 woaller that, but Tguess -- Ldon't remember exactly 17 inspected it prior to the sinking?
18 how many years we owned it together. We owned it for - 18 A, 1never deliberately inspected that pan. Fdid
19 P estimating here, I'd say three years. 19 see it when -« any time | changed the -~ or ¢leaned the
20 Q. Okay. Any other boats? 20 pump protection filter because the puimp protection filter
2 A, Yes, Prior (o my mom and | getting the 21 and the float swilch were in close proximity to one
22 Grady-White Seafiarer, when [ was young -- So there was a 22 anether. Sosaw it regularly, but ) never held itin my
23 period of time where we did not owaa boat. However, my 23 hunds and carefitlly inspected it.
24 lirst experience with boats was as a teemager, My -- We 24 Q. Okay. Have you had amy -- any other formal
Page 42 Page 44
1 ad a 14-foot alnminum boat with a tiller outboand on it. 1 education regarding vessel operations, other than tha
2 iat outhoard | think was 25 horsepower. 1 may have been 2 Comnecticut licensing that you passed?
320 horsepower, hut i1 was in that range, 3 A Yes
L Q. Okay. 4 Q. Wha?
5 AL And that was my first experience with power 5 A, When my mont and | purchased the Grady-While
G haoats. & Sealarer, we hired a boating instructor to take us out on
7 1 also had experence with i canoe that was - we 7 the boat, And we spent [ want Lo say a couple of hours
& lud starwed using whien [ was very smakl ard continued 10 8 with hiny on the boat with him showing mestly me at the
¢ use throughout much af my youth, 9 helm how to handte it and so forth.
10 | also had experience with kayaks. oth my mom 10 Q. Who was that?
11 and my dad would go out kayaking in Long Iskand Sound and 11 A, [don't know the name of the fion. I Lspent
12 elsewhers at times. 12 enough tine on the intemet, i sure [eould find him,
13 [ alsa own and have owned since -- since |was 13 hut | den't know his pame ofthand.
14 20, s0 it would have been -- Fbelieve T purchased the 14 Q. And did he come to the Grady-White and go out in
15 14-foot aluminum side console boat that | carmently own i 15 it with you?
14 214, § e Plus or - 1know | purchased it plus or minus 16 A, Yes. Sowemet ata boat ramp in Connecticut at
27 ayear. Dihink Epurchased itin 2014, And I have used 17 ahe mouth of the Connecticut River and he instnaeted us on
18 that boat in ponds around Vemon where | live and also in 18 launching the boat, docking the boat, and hasdiing the
1% the Comnecticut River, 19 boat while he was onboard in the Comrecticut River.
00 Q. Okay. What about boating courses? 20 Okay. Aud where was his company? Whal stite wias
%1 AL Thave a centilicate from the state of 21 his company in; do you recall?
22 Connecticut il is a pennit Lo openxie persenal 22 A, |belicve he was based out of Connecticut.
13 waterernlt, as well as other types of boats. 23 0. And what about mechanicat courses? Anything ke
24 () Wasthere a size limit o it? 24 that that you ever took?
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Page 45 Page 47

1 A No, 1 cleat to the piling.

2 Q. Did you cver take g Cummins diesel engine comrse? 2 He also wok two sduminum pltes that were bolled

3 A No. 3 to the superstructure i the registration infonmation,

4 Q. And where — How - What was the purchase price 4 which was not current and which was - was aftixed o,

5 oy the boat? 5 amd -

[ MR. SANTOS: From Brian -- 6 Q. Was that a Massachusetts number you mean?

7 MR, FARRELL: From Bran Woods. 7 A, Yes, hie -- So when  purchased the boat, it had 2

a A, Thave tie purchise price enrecord, 1Tdon®t 8 Massachusetis registration. 1 had registered it in Rhode

% know if that - if that's something you have already in % Esland, but Ehadn't taken the time (o put Ot
10 the documients we forwarded to you or not. 1 don't recall 10 registration information on the boat yet because Thadn't
11 what the pueclise price was ofthand, 11 beenusing the boat. R owis still carly in the scasen,
1z MR, SANTOS: Approximarely. 12 hado been using the beat much,
13 A, Approxinately $45000. 13 And so he ook those two plates and lie also toak
14 0. Okay. Was there a purchase and sabe agreement of 14 the power adapter from the dock thist took -- that
15 any sort? 15 converted the dock power, which is a higher vollage, to a
16 A. Yes, there was, 16 volusge that you can plug, and extension cord.
17 @ Doyouhave acopy of that? 17 Q. Soashorepower conneetion?
18 A ldo 18 A Yes
12 Q. Okay 19 Q. Sohe ook that shorepower connecticon?
20 MR. FARRELL: 1'd ask for a copy of that. 20 A, Hedid.
21 Corkd you send me that”? 21 Q. And did you consider the $45.000 10 have ineluded
22 MR, SANTOS: Sure. 22 (hose ilems?
23 MR, FARRELL: Okay. 23 A, Well, Fhad purchased the shorepower connection
24 BY MR. FARRELL: 24 myselfat West Marine.

Page 46 Page 48

1 Q. Now, 1 understand there's some talk that Woods 1 Q. Okay.

2 ook iteins off of the boat and you reported it to the 2 A Ihelieve o, at feast one of the dock Tines

3 wilice. 3 {0 he stole, Fhad obtained Trom a madni where | had

4 A Fhat's comrect. 4 heen keeping the boat before bringing it to Point Judith

5 Q. What's that about? Telk me about that, 5 Marina. So I obmined the dock lines atter 1-- 1 had

3 A, Sothe boat was at Point Judith Maring and it was & ohtained Fhelieve two of the dock Jines alter taking

7 in the water. And on a weekend when no one was at the 7 possesion of the boat.

& nwaring, apparently no one -- The marina was not stafled 8 The other dock Tines that he stole had been used

9 and apparently ne one ¢lse was around. 1t wasa'l during S 1o tie the boat up when | ook the boat lroms - from
10 the boating seasoq, it was early this year. 10 Plymouth, Massachusetts where 1 purchased it, to Rhode
11 Q. What month? 11 Island. |had told Brian Woods when | was leaving. He
12 A, Ldon't know what month ofThand. We could get 12 never made any statentent o prke sure you leave the dock
13 that t you based on when | filed the police repont, 13 fines. We lad a copversation itterwards where he said ]
14 Q. Yep 14 could have the dock lines.
15 A, The - Brian Woods came to the muring on a 15 And later after he was - after we had o dispute
16 weekend, be ook the dock lines off -« from the boat with 16 about -~ that | owed finy money, lie thought | owed him
17 the exceptien of one that would have been very diflicult 17 money and 1t 1 had never agreed 1o pay him for the work
18 for him to take bevause it was tied 1o o piling that was 18 that he had done on (he boat before Fpasehased it -- or
19 not immedistely aceessible from the dock, And that line 19 it may Jave been alter 1 pusehised it bat Tor the work e
20 heeut. Hecut all of the excess Trom the dock line, 206 had done on the boat around the e Fpurchased it
21 S0 -- Because there had been excess off of the eleat. Se 21 That's when -- So when he thoughit Lowed him money for
22 it -- The dock line had been tied to the cleat and there 22 something else is when he started demanding thit | give
22 wasa lag end and he cat that tag cnd of . So it was only 23 him the dock lines bick. Amd he stole the dock lines
24 the minimal neaded 1o keep the boat connected from the 24 severak months after had purchised the Boatand then had
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Page 49 Page 51
1 the boat in my possesion. 1 A Yoes, it doos,
2 So yos, it's my understanding that the dock lines 2 Q. Okay. And up above, docs it show the area where
3 were my property, that he hiad given them t me and that he 3 the triny tabs were?
4 only changed his mind about giving them o me well after ] Ao Yes. Inthat picture, you can sed the trim tabs
5 having done so, 5 if you leok carefully,
6 Q. Sodidhesteat anything other than the dock 6 MR, SANTOS: That's the bottom picture,
7 tines and the shorepower cord? 7 nght?
8 A, Yes, he stole the dock lings, the sliorepower 8 THE PEPONENT: Yoz, the bottem pictere on
9 cable, not the shorepower connector, and the two plates - ¢ Page 6.
10 the two aluminum plates. 10 BY MR. FARRECLL:
11 ). And how do you know that hie's the one who stole 11 Q. Okay. And vou say you can see them if you book
12 them? 12 carefully?
13 A, e bad called Point Judith Marina -- Point Juditls 13 A. Right there, you can see where it's i lile bit
14 Marina told me that he catled them on Monday or -- I dont 14 white, you sce the rellection?
15 know if it was on Monday, but shortly after committing the 15 Q. Isec what vou're pointing to,
16 thefi to inform them that he had waken the dock lines. 16 A, Inthe - Thetrim tabs arcin the frame of that
17 And he also sent me an e-mail after | had filed the police 17 picture.
18 report in which he indicated he was the person who took 18 Q. Okay.
19 them. 19 A, And they were on the boat &t the time the picture
20 And 1 believe he, in speaking to the oflicer with 20 was taken.
21 whom | filed the police repon, admitted to the thelt at 21 Q. Okay. What's this yeilow thing that's in sort of
22 that time as well, to the oflicer. 22 the middle of that picture; do you have any idea?
23 Q. DBidherewm then to you? 23 A. No, ldo not, It appears 10 nte te be something
24 A. No, | never got them back. 24 placed on the trim tabs just resting here.
Page 50 Page 52
1 (0. And what's the -~ What's the status of that 1 Q. Were sou there during the swivey when Mr. Feeney
2 criminal comphaint? 2 was there?
3 A. Ifled the police report, had some e-mmail 3 A Dwas notthere - So the sunsey had two
4 communication with Officer Marler immediately aiter filing 4 componenls.
5 the palice report. He told -- Officer Marler old mel 5 First off was when the boat was ouf of the watet
6 would be contacted by a detective. I never was. 6 onblocks, Fwas not present when Mr. Feeney leaked at
7 | assurned that because of the petiy dollar amount 7 the beat white it was out of the water. After Tie fiad
8 ofthe thefi. it was being treated as nothing by the & given me a favorable impression of the boat from Jooking
9 police department and I didat see a need to pursue it 9 a1 it ool of the water, T had Brian Woods faurich the boat
10 aggressively. 10 and Bernard Feeney, myselfand Brian Wols were on the
11 Q. Okay. P poing to ask you some mere questions 131 boat for a sea triak.
12 about this survey report, bt Fin going o hit the men's 12 Okay.
13 room. 13 A, And so thie second part of the sunvey, the sea
14 MR, FARRELL: Dovs anybody ¢lse need a break? 14 trial, both Mr Feeney snd mysell were present.
15 MR, SANTOS: Yes 15 . Okey. Was there any discussion regarding the
16 (O the recard at 12:50 pany) 16 trim tahs during that sea trial?
17 (Back on the record at 12:39 p.nv) 17 A Atthe beginning of the sea trial while the boat
i8 BY MR. FARRLELL: 18 was sl at the dock, one of the things the surveyor
19 Q. I'mjust going to ask you a couple things about 12 leoked at was confirming the tnm tabs had a full range of
20 this survey from Feeney. 26 metion, $o he stood at the transem looking over the hack
21 AL Sure. 21 and watehud the i Lbs go up and down while Brian Woeds
22 Q. Tumto Page 6.4 you could, sir. It's nota 22 operated the controls Tor the trim fabs i the whedhouse,
23 great picture. but that shows the tnisom on the battom 23 Q. Okay,
24 picture? 24 A tiher tan that, Ldon't recall any discussion of

13 (Pages 49 to 52)
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1 the tim tabs. 1 survey value came in well above the price at which 1 was
2 Do you know Ik long the trin tabs had beenon 2 purchasing it.
3 the hulf? 3 Q. Okay. And why did you decide to tike the oim
4 A, Tknow they were installed by Bran Woods during a Labs off?
5 the refit. | don't know at what point during the refit he 5 A The reason st T decided to take the 1im tobs
6 installed them. & oft was because Lnever found -- | played with them
7 Q. And when was the refit? 7 multiphe tintes while using the boat snd never found an
& A, So Brian Woods had purchased the boat in very 8 occasion where they did any good. Any time that ¢
9 poorcondition. Some time priot to me purchasing it fromn 9 adjusted the trim tabs downwards, just drove the halk -
10 him, ! believe a numiber of years prior. 10 it drove the bow into the water causing the speed to
11 Q. Okay. 11 reduge dramatically and reducing perfonmance, not
12 A. And be spent those yeans modilying the boat and 12 enhaneing it. So they were serving Bo puepose,
13 upgrading it to the condition that [ beught it in. 13 And 1 assiiied beeause they were at the very back
14 Q. Okay. And did he usc it during that period? 14 of the beat and protrading oY the bick tag whien the bt
15 A IUs my understanding from the conversations that 15 was on plain, they were increasing the drag because they
16 Fhad with him around the Gime that | was purchasing the 16 would have heen -- even when they're in line with the
17 boat that he had put it in the water to do a seu triak of 17 bottom of the Tudl, they would lave been lower. And so
18 il himself after he thought he was finished refitting the 18 adding -- My band motions don't pet caught in the
19 hoew and to get some video of it for marketing purposes. 19 transceipt -- So they would fave - So | assumed they were
20 Q. Okay. 20 inereasing the iy when the boat was on plain amd thereby
21 A. Dut thak he never used it recreationally himselfl 21 probably reducing performanee, reducing speed, making it
22 Henever, like, went out on fishing thips with i 22 harder to et up onto plain and redueing tuel efficiency.
23 Q. And what's his background? 1 mean, what's he de 23 Q. Didanybody confinm your views regarding the trim
24 foraliving? 24 abs?
Page 54 Page 56
1 A, When | spoke to him about his experience with 1 A Inever discossad iy -- No, Noone -- | never
2 haats, why was he quatitied to do the refie. be told me 2 discussed those views with anyone,
3 that he owned Fastech, which was a marine fabricating 3 Q. Sovou didn't discuss them with anybody at Point
4 company, and that he was a contracter who did a kot of 4 Judith Marina?
5 work for Brewers Marina in Plymouth. 5 A, Not tat]recall. 1lad many conversations with
6 And 1 also saw, beeause when the boat was in the 6 people ot Point Judith Marina. | den't revall the trim
7 water, it was being kept at Brewers, and 1 saw that he had 7 tabs ever coming up in any of thea,
& a good mppon with the general manager who knew himas a g Q. Did you discuss the trim tabs with anyiady atany
9 contractor that Brewers hired out. 9 other maning?
10 $o | undersiand that he's a marine fabricator whoe 10 A No,
11 appatently had a couple employees in his company. 1 dont 11 Q. Did you discuss taking the trim tabs off with
12 know how far back he goes in that field or exactly what 12 Mr Feeney?
13 his qualifications are. 13 A, Ididnot
14 Q. And why did you buy the boat? 14 Q. Did you discuss taking {he trim tubs off with
15 A | bought the boat because -- | bought this 15 Mr. Woods?
16 particular boat hecause 1 was attracted o its unique 16 A ldidnen
17 desipn and the enclosed wheelhouse that kept yau dry and 17 Q. Did you conduct research on the fntemnet
18 oul of the elements, but also the center consele. So 1d 18 regarding the trim tabs?
19 have aceess - easy access to the front of the boat and 12 AL Ldon't believe so,
20 there was a very larpe cockpit, which was good tor 20 Q. Did you comsult any boating literature regarding
21 fishing. And you could -- And there was also space where 21 the taim tabs?
22 you could fish forwand of the wheelhouse. 22 AL Bdid
2 So it struck me as a very useable, very fishable 23 Q. What did you consult?
24 boal. And was also attracted to the fact that the 24 AL Actually, i we can go back a moment to the
14 (Pages 53 to 56)
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1 question where you said conduct any research on the 1 to-- which breaks easily, as opposed to Benmel is

2 internel. 2 sometimes Bennett trim tabs, you have to wade through a

3 t did took at the -- | purchased several of the 2 hydrautic fluid in the back of tle boat.

5 accessories that Hostalled on the boat from Defender 1 Sa he had -- That had come up incidentally when |

5 Marine, got the electronics from Defender Marine and so 5 had mentioned the Lenco hatch il

6 forth. AndI-- Ihad looked into getting a trim tab 6 Q. Okay. But that conversation didn't include any

7 position indicator that would indicate what position the 7 proor con regarding the Bennett type trim tabs on your

8 trim 1abs were in. 8 wansom, did they, with the Boat U.S. surveyar?

3 Q. Meaning what angle? S A, Itwasntspecific. He ad meationed that in his
10 A. Thats commect, $o0 you could look at it at the 10 -~ he had experience wading through hydrlic fluid in the
11 helmand see what angle the teim tabs are at. 11 back ofa boat when a Bennelt trim 1abs systein failed.

12 Q. Okay. 12 Q. Okay. And that - that's Dexter Holiday?
13 A And I had feoked into how complicated installing 13 A Yes.
14 ane of those would be and  realized that # would -- that 14 Q. And that was regarding the engine replacement?
15 it would be quite in depth. 1t wasn't something I wanted 15 A, That's comrect. ‘That was -- That conversation
16 1o getinvolved in. So | read about teat. 16 was oceurming while e was surveying the boat [or its
17 Q. Was (hat before or afler yeu made the 17 replacement.
18 determination that the trim tabs did nothing but -- were 18 Q. Andwas the seacock for the engine rew-water
19 nothing but a hindrance? 19 cooling intake closed when you had an overheating problem?
20 A, It was while I was in the process of making that 20 A. Yes. Sothe engine overheated because the
21 determination. 1hadn found any use for the trim fabs. 21 seacock for the well-water engine intake was accidentally
22 | thought maybe il'l am able to see the exact position or 22 loft closed.
23 there's even a system where the trim tabs are controlied 23 Q. Who had accidentally feft it elosed?
24 by a computer, | thought maybe ane of those systems would 24 A | doat know if the marina -» Because the boat
Page 58 Page 60

1 make them useful. So it was in the process of my - e 1 had been at the marina, they had - It had been out of the

2 making that detenmination. 2 water, then they had launched it, And it's my beliel that

3 Q. Okay. Besides looking at a system that might 3 {he marina lefl the seacock closed and that [ had just not

4 give you an angled indication for the trim tabs, did you 4 notedit. 1-- And 1 had sent Tim Green a couple e-mails

5 conduct any other research on the intemet or othenvise 5 to that affoct, that T thought he bad left the seacock

6 regarding the trim tabs? 6 closed when he shouldn't have.

7 A, Not that I recall. 7 Q. Didherespond to you?

8 Q. Okay. Mr. Feeney calls them Bennett type wim 8 A Hedid. And he said it wasn't his problem.

9 tabs with four actuation cylinders on Page 6; do you see 9 Q. Andhow long fiad the - had you Jast been on the
10 (hat? 10 boat pricr fo the time that you ran it and it overheated?
11 A, Page6? 11 A. [Ihad been on the boat - I don't recall exactly
12 (. Vhink its the section above that. 12 Now many times 1 wen to the boat in carly maybe Aprit of
12 A Actually it - Let me just bring this up, 13 this year, but | believe I was on the boat at least once
14 1 do recall the - a mention of the rim tabs in 14 prior 10 - between witen it was put in the water and when
15 aconversation that [ had with the surveyor who was hired 15 | teok it out on the sea trial, | may be istaken there,

16 by Boat LLS. to - when | had a problein with the engine. 16 but | think 1 was on the boat at the dock at least once.

17 [ hadt todd him that the Leaco hatch lifts were 17 And Where’s a possibility that 1 had looked at

18 finicky, so when he had to dift the hatch to inspeet the 18 the scacock and this - and closed it before leaving. At
19 ¢ngine, to be carelul. And in the course of having 19 that -- Because youre supposed 1o close - You can close
20 mentioned that, he said yes, he had experience with Lenco 20 ascacock when you leave the - when you Jeave so Ut if
21 and they were finicky. And Lenco also makes trim tabs and 21 there's a failure in the plurabing, the failure doesn't

22 he said that -- said something - 1 shink | told him the 22 result in the boat Nlooding.

23 hatel lilts were finicky, he said yes, Lenco trim tabs are 213 So [don't - Sitting here right now, | remember

24 also very finicky, but the advantage 10 Lenco as opposed 24 (hat it was my beliel at the time that Point Judith Marina
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1 had left the seacock closed and | don't remember precisely 1 condition of the fuel is what detennines how much
2 whether -- 1 don't remember precisely when | had been on 2 contaminanis are conght in the racor. It's not the
3 the bot between when i was in the water and when Ttook 3 newness of the engine, to my knowledge. Fovaot i --
4 jt oul on the sea trial, 4 Q. And what were you finding when you had 10 ciean
5 Q. Soletmejust - 1 asked you a couple of preity 5 the racor with the new -- alter the new engine had been
& specilic guestions. & installed?
7 A Ub-huh 7 A. l--Sowhen ] lid to take the racor out, | saw
8 Q. Who to your knowledge left the seacock for the 8 thatl it was dirty and Qiat when you put it in, it's white
9 fresh water -- sallwater 1aw intake closed, to the bestof 9 or
10 your ability? 10 almost white, And when | took itoul, it was brown o --
11 A, Tothe best of my knowledge, Poing Judith Maring 11 Q. Uh-huh,
12 [eft it closed. 12 A, Andsol puta new Nlters in.
13 Q. Okay. And when prior o the trip that you took 13 Q. And was that -- Did that -- Did that improve the
14 when the engine overheated had you last been on the boat? 14 operation of the diesel by doing shat?
15 A, Ldon't remember. 15 A, Neo [-- S0 just -- 1 want 1o go over my
16 Q. Could it have been more than @ week? 16 recollection of changing the filters in depth.
17  A. No, 1believe that a week prior 1o my taking that 17 | know | changed the filters multiple times prior
18 trip, the boat had been out of tlie water at Point Judith 18 fo the new engine being installed. 1 know that shortly
19 Marina, 19 alter having the new engine, | believe it was shortly
20 Q. Hauted out? 20 afier, yeah, I'm - Yeah, shorily after the new engine
21 A. Cormrecl. 21 being installed -
22 Q. Okay. Soback again on Page 6, is it your 22 Q. And when was that date? When was the
23 understanding (hat tley were Bennett type wim tabs with 23 installation lnished?
24 four actuation cylinders for the frim tabs? 24 A Wehave a rocord of tiat,
Page 62 Page 64
1 A Yes itis. Twoactustion cylindess per trim 1 MR. SANTOS: The receipls are --
2 tab, 2 MR FARRELL: 1eouldn'ttefl. They --
3 Q. Okay. On Page 15, did you ever change the fuel 3 There's two dates o the repait orders, There's like
4 filters? 4 start of -- What do they call it? They have two dates, a
5 Ao Yes, Idid 5 delivery date and a tinish date.
6 Q. Okayv. And hew did you do that? & BY MR FARRELL:
7 A, 1did that by removing the cap, first o abl. 7 (). Which date do you consider the tiew diesel (o have
8 You unserew the handle that you can see pictured on Page 8  been installed, reconditioned?
¢ 15, which atlows you to remove the black lid dliat you see 9 A, IMwe look at the Tetter that you sent w --
10 under the handle. And then undemeath that Tid is a fuel 10 MIL SANTOS: That's inthe frent of your
311 filter that can he Kiied out vertically and inserting 11 package here.
12 another one. topping off with diesel fael to -- and then 12 A, ltsays that there were two diflerent sea nials,
17 replacing e black cap and screwing on the handle again. 13 Ibelieve one was on June 11, And afier - Yeal -
14 Q. Did you do that with the original eagine? 14 Q. Isaw August Istand August 31d.
15 A, Yes. [had occasion to change the mcer lilter 15 A, August 3rd and August 11th,
16 multiple times with the original engine. 16 Q. Thats what 1 mean, August drd and August 11
17 Q. Did vou ever do it with the new engine? 17 A, Teonsider these to have been Tinished on Avgust
18 A Yes. 18 11th because that's when the sea trial ook place that --
19 Q. Whydid you do it with the new engine? 19 where Point Judith Marina then handed the boat over 1o me.
20 A, Breause the mcor filters were getting dirty zo Q. Okay. Suwafier thatdie -
21 quickly. 21 A, [putagauge on the racer. The gauge replaces
2z Q. Must have been pretty quickly. Fment, you just 22 the handle thal you see pictured on Page 15, Witere vou
23 pot that engine, ight? 23 ree that eross handle. it's a cinche it has acdia) thit
24 A, Well, the - It has -- The newness of the -- The 24 indicates | pucss the pressure or - s a - There's a
16 (Pages 61 to 64}
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1 preen zone and a red zone. And when the dial gets 1o the 1 A Approximately eight hours.

2 red zone, it means that the fuel filter peeds 1o be 2 Q. Okay.

3 replaced. 3 A, id estimate Ut a Tutl day of boating was

4 Q. Okay. So after August [ 1th, how many times did 4 approximately cight hours, and each of those was o Tuil

5 you rephace the fuel filter? 5 day.

6 A. [think 1 changed it ance. T nuy not have had 6 . Okay. [Tow numy other trips did you take with the

7 wccasion o change it at all, but Lthink 1 changed it 7 boat besides those Tour irips afler August 11h and before

8 once. 8 the sinking?

9 Q. And this is with the new engine? 9 A There was another occasion where my mom and |
10 A, That's correct. With the new engine, |-- Now 10 went night siriped hass fshing, and Pd say (it arip was
11 that I'm thinking about the difference between the - 11 closer o four hours,

12 between the lime when | installed that gauge and before 1 12 Q. Didvou go to Block Island for that one, toa?
13 installed the gauge, | think after Dinstalled the gauge, 13 A Yes
14 [either changed it not at all or only once. 14 Q. Okay.
15 Q. Okay. How many engine hours did you operate the 15 A, And there - 1think tlat the night striped bass
16 new cagine before the trip when it sank? 16 trip was the only ene where we toak the boat ot between
17 A, Fdor'tknow, 17 the three nights -- the three days we did consecutively
18 Q. well-- 18 and the date of the sinking. There iy have bees anc or
19 A, ldon't know how many hours were on the gauge. 19 two other trips in that time peried, but 1 don't think so.
26 €. How many trips did you take after August 11th 20 Q. Soaslseeil there's the fiest four o six
21 prorto the uip that it senk? How -- What trips did you 21 hour wrip that you made by vourself.
22 take during that period? 22 A, Ub-huh
23 A, Dook one tip mysell, and my mom and Frook 23 Q. And the three days when you stayed in the hotel.
24 several trips. Most of which - All ol which were to the 24 A, Uh-hul.

Page 66 Page 68

1 area of Biock Island prior we - 1 should say all of which 1 Q. And then there's a Tifilnip (hat involves

2 prior to the date of the sinking were to the area of Block 2 striper Ashing at night?

3 Island. 3 A. Uh-huh. And between the time when Hook the

4 Q. Okay. How many -- On that ene trp you teok 4 boat out myself and the time when we stayed at the

5 yoursell, how long was that? 5 hotet -+

& A, ¥destimate maybe four Lo six hours, 6 Q. Okay.

7 Q. And with your mother abuard, you teok several 7 A Weteok the boat out at feast two other times.

8 trips? s Q. And what did those trips enail?

2 A Comt. s A, They entailed poing to the vieinity of Block
10 Q. Howmany? 10 Island for fishing.

11 A, Well, wetook -~ There was one period of time 11 Q. Aud how long were those trips?

12 where we rented a bolel room for two nights and we spent 12 A Approximately cight houss,

13 tiiree days -~ three consecutive days on the boat. 13 Q. Okay. And when in the course of these seve

14 Q. Okay. 14 trips afler August T1vand before the trip when the et
15 A Wetooks-- 15 sank was it that you changed the fuel fler?

16 Q. Dogs that mean three separate trips? 16 Ao I Telomged the fuet fiter, ) would -- See. ]

17 AL Yes. 17 seeall having changed the fued filler many times. Fdow't
18 Q. Youcmnein every night o stay at the hotel? 18 revall the Tuel gauge - the gauge on the fuek tilter ever
19 A, Comet 19 indicating the firel lilter needed to be changed, which is
20 Q. Okay. First day. how long was that trip? 20 why I think none of the times that | recall having changed
21 A, Approximately ciglit hours, 21 the fued flter were itler the new engine was installed.
22 Q. Okay. Thesecond day, how Jong was that tiip? 22 120 vou Reblow the way I getting o my

23 A, Again, approxinuely cight hours. 23 conchision? Because Dean't 1l you this is the date on
24 Q. And the third? 24 which Vinstatted the tuel filer, this is - here's

CAEETE BT AL
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1 exactly how many times | changed the fuel filter, these 1 the engine overheat in April?
2 are the days, Tdon't renember that. 2 A Yes
3 Q. Soafler August Hih, you ave a gauge on the 3 Q. When did the engine overheat?
4 fuel filters, the red zome and the green zone? 4 A. The engine overheat was in April,
5 A Yes Ifnosafter August 1k, within a week or 5 Q. Okay. And how long were those two trips?
€ two after August 1Hh. 6 A, Like | said, 1dont recall them specilicatly. 1
7 Q. And thal never showed you -- That never gave you 7 just - I'm trying to get a-- [ remember having used the
8 an indication that the fuel fiter needed tw be changed? 8 boat. | dont remember every occasion on which @used the
o A Notthat | recall. 2 hout, so P'm trying to gt @ sense of — Fleel like |
10 Q. Okay. So-- But -- And how oflen did you use the 10 used the bont a lot in this period. How wany trips does
11 boat prior 1o August | Hh? 11 that equate 0?7 Maybe six howrs per trip there.
12 A. Priorto August ] 1th, the boat had been with 12 Q. Okay. Any olher trips that you ook before the
13 Point Judith Marina for quite awhile with themw repairing 13 engine overheat?
14 it. I'had taken the beat on a long trip fram Plymouth o 14 A, No.
16 --1o Point Judith in December when T purchased tie boat. 15 Q. Andthe engine overbieal was only a few minuies,
16 So thal was (ke dong trip. 16 right?
17 And then my mom and [ ook the boat out 1 want to 17 A. Comrect.
18 say twice, Again, I'm trying -- I'm trying to recall fram 18 Q. Okay. Now. in your testimony. you changed the
19 (hings that happened months ago. Fm doing my best. It 19 fuel filter o lot during that period belore the overheat,
20 may have been once, it may have been three times. but | 20 right?
21 think it was lwice, in -- early in the year, like 21 A Yos
22 wintertime, maybe Decemiber, January, in that range. And 22 Q. How nuany times?
23 then we took it aut once around my birthday for my 23 A, Approximately five times.,
24 hirthday. 24 Q. Okay. And that's because the Tuel was diny?”
Page 70 Page 72
1 Q. And your binthday is when? 1 A Yes,
2 A. January 21ist. 2 Q. Didvoureplace the fuel alter the everheat?
3 Q. Okay. And where'd you go? 3 A Yes
4 A, We went to Block Island, we docked in the Old 4 Q. Sonew setof Tuel in all three tanks?
5 Harbor, Actually, did we -- Yeah, we docked in the Old 5 A. There was new fuel in the port and tle starboard
& Harbor. 6 lank. 1don't -- There was still the sante Ruel in the aft
7 Q. Isihatin the Great Salt Pond? 7 k. Point Judith Marim had sucked o small amount of
8  A. No, that's on the other side of the island. 8 fucl owt of | believe all three tanks, but at least the -
o And we had funch and then we came back. 9 Yeah, they sucked a small amount of fuel out of all three
10 Q. How long was that trip? 10 tanks and indicated that it was -- that the aft laak had
11 A. Maybe six hours, including lunch. 11 fine fizel and the port and starboard tanks were the ones
12 Q. Soitwasn't running the whole time? 12 that were a problem.
13 A, Correct. 13 Q. Okay. Sodid you pump then dry and install new
14 Q. How many engine hours on that trip? 14 fuel?
15 A. ['d say probably four engine hours, out to Block 15 A Hdid
16 Island and back. 16 Q. Okay. And was there any residue in the tanks
17 Q. Okay. What about the other time that you ran it 17 when you pumped thenm?
18 with your mather in the wintertime? 18 A, Could you clarify?
19 A. Maybe six or eight hours. 19 Q. How do you know that -- Who did the pumping of
26 Q. Okay. How many other irips did you take before 20 the fuel?

21 the overheat? 21 A 1did the pumping. The way |did the punping was
2 A, bdowt recall the trips specifically, but il 22 by removing the Tuel leved indicators, which are prety
23 seems like we -- I toek two trips. 23 pod-sized holes, so that - How big wauld you sy that

24 Q. Sotwo trips afier the winter trips and before 24 is? Maybe three inches.
18 (Pages 69 to 72)
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1 Q. Diamewr? 1 A Yes. quick trips.
2 A Yo 2 Q. Okay. Do you cver venture on any of your krips
3 What you're showing e s less tan - Okay, 3 south of Block Island by anymore thasn a couple of miles?
4 Cadl ita three-inch diameler. 4 A. e Wihen Look the boat out around Block
S A Yeoh, approximately. The fuel indicators were 5 |sland, 1 went maybe a mile owside of the wind fanm and
6 inserted through the holes in the tanks that were & 1hal would have been the farthest south.
7 spproximately (e inches in diameter, And | remaved 7 Q. What's that, five miles south of Block Istand?
£ those fuel -+ fuel Jevel indicators and inserted o fuel 8 A, Vdon't know exacily hew far south of Block
o pump that was a ntanual fuel pump that reached down 1o the 9 Island the wind Fam is. Fd say L went abouta mile
10 bottom of the ek, | had a barrel and 1 pumpad the Teel 16 oulside of the wind fann on that trip.
11 from the Lank o the barre] and then brought the barrels 11 Q. And Block Istand was in visibility during that
12 oy truck and moved them, 12 rp?
13 S the way Ewas able to teltihat the tanks were i3 A Yes
14 cnply wis by - when L kept pumping snd nothing was coming 14 Q. Okay. Seuny way --
15 out § was - | lookesd into the tank anl saw a very, very 15 A, Sotheair in the luel filter?
16 small amoum of fuel pooled at the botom ceimer., 16 Q. Yeah
17 Q. Okay. Andyetyou had to change a fuek Alier 17 A. Now, on one of the sea trials that occurred with
18 once after the engine was replaced? 18 Bud. which is the name of the mechanic from Peint Judith
19 A As Ivetriad to clarify, 1don't know if | had 19 Marina, and mysell anboard, we took the boat out ta the
26 10 change it afler the engine was replaced. b -- Given 20 Harhor of Reluge and when the boat was brought up 1o full
21 (hat the gauge on the fiel filles was installed right 21 theottle or approximately ful) tiroitle, it quickly lost
22 after the enging was replaced and Mat | don'y reeall the 22 power because it wasn't getting enough furel because there
23 paupe ever having indicated that the fuel Rlier nevded 1o 23 fiad been - Bud at that time had a suction gauge on the
24 e replaced, | think that all of the times when | recali 24 fuel filter and that suction gauge was reading nil and you
Page 74 Page 76
1 Taving changed the fuel filier oceurred prior to the 1 .- alot of bubbles were visible in the racor.
2 engine being replaced. 2 Q. Yep
3 Q. Okay. What about the air in the - the bubbles 3 A, And so when we brought the throttle up to
4 in the diesel fuel that's mentioned in the repair erders? 4 approximately full throttle, the engine quickly lost power
5 What -- How did that afteet the cugine? 5 and 1 being at the throttle brought pawer back down to
6 MR, SANTOS: If vou know, & idie or close o idle just before tie engine would have
7 AL Lknow that when we ook the - we being the - 7 stalled for lack of Tucl.
& Oh. and that's samething else 1 should mention. 8 Q. Andwhen was that?
9 Wlhen vou were asking about trips, there were a A, That would be docuniented. 1f you don't have thiat
10 several occasions where a -- someene from Point Judith 10 in the invoices that you have, then | --
11 Marima and myself went out on e fxat for what was being 11 Q. Goahead.
12 termed a sea bial by Point Judith Marina. And thal was 12 A. [l look through, 1was befose the engine
13 alkin Harbor af Refuge or right outside the wall, 13 ovehwated. |know that.
14 Q. Is that separate from the August 3 amd August 1 14 Q. Oh. okay.
15 incidents? 15 A. Dthink if would have had to have been because it
16 Al Yes 16 Wits -
17 Q. How mimy of those were there? 17 MR. SANTOS: You got to make sure she pets
18 A That would definitely be documented. 1'd say 18 what you're saying. So when you kind of kower your voice.
19 definitely three, 192 she may no pick itup,
20 Q. Three additional to the new installation?! 2 THE DEPONENT: Okay.
21 AL Yo 21 A, So when was the sep triaf? 1 believe ft was
22 Q. Okay. 22 hetore the engine overhvated bevause there were only two
23 A Sowhen - 23 sca trials after the engine overheated and it did not
24 Q. Sotheseare prefty quick rips? 24 happen on cither of those two sea trials.
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1 Q. Butdid you have bubbles in -- air bubbles dn the 1 Wi is that sbove it? s that w scuppar?
2 Hiel filter that were observed afier the new engine was 2 A, Soabove the yelow thing, we can see the paing
3 nstalicd? 3 where the triny tab is attached to the boat, and that's
4 A Yes. And the mechanic from Point Judith Marina 4 black.
5 tald me that they were minimat and not an issue. 5 Q. Yes, okay.
6 Q. Did you notice them to be an issue at all during & A, Andabove that, we can see a piece of PVC that is
7 your operation of the vessel? 7 bolted over a hole in the transom, which is where - on
8 A No. 8 the starboard side -- The piece of PVC is bolted over the
a . Did you cansider yoursell 1o be running wt widv g point where the cockpit weuld bail, so water would drain
10 open throttle? 10 out of the cockpit or the aler deck,
11 A, Tdid mn the boat at wide open thiottle on a few 11 Q. Trsadmin hole from the deck?
12 oceasions to - | would nomally ms it at cruise RPM, 1z A Yes
13 which is 200 RPM less than wide apen throule. Bt | did 12 Q. Okay. And where -- wheye is the bilge pump
14 qun it ol wide open throttke on a few eceasiuns Lo confinm 14 discharge?
15 thal it wis working at that level, mnd ivappeared to be 15 A. The bilge pump discharge is --
16 working ot that level. 16 MR. SANTOS: Wiat phietograph are you boking
17 Q. And where'd you buy your fuel? 17 w? 047
18 A. 1 purchased the Tuel from Point Judith Marina on 18 MR. FARRELL: Coirect.
19 une eccasion and from -- and from -~ What do they calt it? 19 THE DEPONENT: Yes, I'm looking at IPEG
20 Snug Harbor Marina on other eecasions. 20 O04JPG.
21 Q. Sole'sloekat-- 21 A. And the bilge pump discharge is inside. 105
22 A Do you still want me te look for the sea trial? 22 closer to the center line than (he starboard trim tab and
23 Q. Yousaid it was before the overheating, dght? 23 you can see the lop of the nibber covering on the white.
24 A Yes 24 Soright there.
Page 78 Page 80
1 Q. Yeah, don't worry about it. 1 Q. Okay. I'vegotablowup. Letmeseeif this
2 Let's fouk m Page 27 of the Feeney survey. Do 2 will help us.
3 you see those two Wp photos? 3 A. The problem with these pictures is there's nota
4 A Yes. 4 ot of lighting.
5 () Sotheonean the left, tha's the trim tab right 5 Q. liricd 10 blow this up.
6 heres is that right? 1s that the starboard side trim 6 MR FARRELL: Let's do this as three and Uhis
7 tab? 7 as four.
8 A Yos 8 {F:xhibit No, 3, Photograph: Exhibit No, 4.
9 (). Okay. What's that white thing that's on the - % Photograph, marked for identilication).
10 sitting on the trim wh? T mean, it appears white. Its 10 BY M. FARRELL:
11 sortof vellow, too. 11 Q. Okay. Sohanding you what we've marked as
12 A, The ebjeet sitting un the wint tabis a core of 12 Exhibit 3. This is a picture of the i tab with the
13 the bull - 13 hullcore.
14 Q. Oh, okay. i4 A, Uh-huh.
15 A, -« that Brian Woods had taken out and saved when 15 Q. Okay. Now, if we take a Jook al the transom,
16 he-- apparently when he installed one of the thru-hulls, 16 which is depicted in what Pyve marked as Exhibit Number 4.
17 0. Do you knew what the diameter - what the width 17 Thats the same pictare as 004 in the Feeney on Page 27.
18 of thatis? 18 Does that appear 1o be the same?
19 A. No, [ donot. 19 A Ndees.
20 Q. Duoes that core alse appeac in the photograph 1o 20 Q. Okay. Soyou were rying W point out wheie the
21 (e right? 21 bilge pump discharge is,
22 A Yos, it dows. 22 A, Yes. The bilge pump diseharge is through the
23 0. Okay. And | caetier asked you abowet that yellow 23 Twole hat is coverad by this rubber cap tial you see here
24 thing that's hanging down, 24 just - It's on the starboard side of the eenter fine
20 (Pages 77 to 80)
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Page 81 Page 83
1 inside of the trim taby right tiere. 1 Q. Okay. And sothese - In Exhibit Number 4,
2 Q. Okay. Sowhy dow't you just put BP above that? 2 yowve numbered these four ilems, And they seem 1o be
3 A, (Deponent complying). And to be clear, this is 3 soit of blumy, but round,
4 connected o a standpipe that is in the afl starbeard 4 A, Ulehuh,
5 comer of the transom. And so the bilge -- The pipes in s Q. Ascihey -~ Are they where the thra-hull
6 e bilge pump dump into the standpipe and die standpipe 6 conncetion is between the pisten and the hydraulics an the
7 connects 1o the object over which | put the Feiters BP. 7 inside?
8 (). Okay. Butthat's for the discharge? BP stands 8 A Yes. Tobe clear, its not a thruhall, it's not
g for hilge pump discharge? 9 acennection. The hiydealic passed trough a hote behind
10 A Yus 10 those and connected te the piston sosmewhere on the other
11 Q. Okay. And this PVC is a scupper of a dmin hole 11 side.
12 from the deck? 12 Q. Butwas there actually sume sort of hole between
13 A Yes. 13 the hull -- in the hull to enable that?
14 Q. Sowhydon't you just put D above that for 14 A Yo
15 deck -- deck drain, how's tha? 15 . How big -- Tow big is thin hole?
16 A, (Depencnt complying). 16 A, When I removed the connectors, it appeared to me
17 Q. Okay. Now, would you -- Let's see. Let's go 17 that the hole was about the size of a hall doliar,
18 [rom -- Let's go from poit to starboard, And using the 18 . Okay. Sothat would mean there would be four
16 Numbers L, 2,3, and 4, can you show me the connections 19 holes abowt the size of a half dollar?
20 for the trim tabs on the huadl Tor the pistons? 20 A, Comect
21 A, Yes. Iy, although they're a bit obscured. 21 Q. Okay. And how far, if you could teil me -- Were
22 We have one, two, three, four, 22 the hwoles round?
23 Q. Okay. And what is that black line below them 23 A Yes
24 that runs sort of horizontal? 24 Q. Okay. What's the distance from the baitom of the
Page 82 Page 84
1 A, The black line below them is the line between 1 hole 10 the top of the black paint - botwom paint?
2 where the bottom paint and the 1op side paint is. 2 A 1destimate about two inches,
3 Q. Okay. And how far above the bottom paint are the 3 Q. Okay. So-
4 .- are the -- Wihat are the -- What are these -- You've 4 A, Now, | could be wrong there. | did not
5 numbered one, two, three, and four. What are those? 5 intentionally observe -- When Lwas taking off the trim
6 A. These are plastic triungles that have three screw 6 lab, | did not make an intentional observation of the
7 holes or - Yeah, they have three heles through which 7 level between the bottom paint and the hole. 1did
€ screws pass securing them to the transom. And the piston g observe the distance between the hole and the water Jine
2 thit actueates the trim b auaches to those. It's an 9 jiself, and that was maybe four inches er so.
10 integral part of the triungle. And it goes down to the 10 Q. And how did you detemiine the watcer line?
11 rim tab itself 11 A, Well, the boat was in the water when 1 removed
12 The hydraulic line that powers the piston passes 12 the trim tab, so il was easy to see how close the water
13 theough a hole drilled behind those black pans and 13 was to the hole.
14 covered by them. So it goes -- And that’s how the 14 Q. Andthat was at rest?
15 hydrautic line gets from inside the boat to the piston. 15 A Y, docked.
16 Q. Soifl'm tw understand coreetly, there is 16 Q. Okay. And when youre underway forward, does the
17 hydraulic mechanisi inside the beat on the inside of the 17 bow come up some?
18 teansem? 18 A Rdoes
19 A, Ub-huh, 19 Q. And what happens to the stem?
20 Q. And then there's o hole tiongli the trnsom? 20 A, The stern would then go down,
21 A, Uh-huh 21 €, Okay. Sowould that bring e hole closer to the
22 Q. And then en the cutside. there's a piston that’s 22 waler?
23 operated by those hydrwlics? 23 A, hwould bring the holes downwards, The waler
24 A Yes 24 would be displaced by the boat, so -- bug cenceivably,
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EXAMINATICN UNDER OATH OF NATHAN CARMAN

Page 85 Page 87
1 yes, 1 A, Yes Theyappeared to be stainless steel wood
2 . Okav, Now, let me ask you, does -- Just showing 2 serews screwed info the transom.
3 vyou-- 3 Q. Aninch oraninch and a quarter Jength?
4 MR. FARRELL: Exhibit 5. 4 A Idsayan inch plus or minus one guarter. Fhag
5 (Exhibit No. 5, Specs Page, marked for S is my best estimate of how fong they were,
6 identification). 6 Q. Okay. Sothat would have been fess than the
7 BY MR. FARRELL: 7 digmeter of the - less than the hickness of the transoin,
8 . Doesthe trim tab that's labeled BXT on this 8 A, Presumably.
9 exhibit, is that a fair exemplar of what you had on your g Q. Okay. Presumably.
10 boat? io D you -- And do you know the thickness of (e
11 A. T appears similar to what was on my boat. 11 transon from the hole tat wis lefl ere on the Numbers
12 Q. Okay. Now, how did you -- Just so - When you 12 0.2, 3 el !
13 wore lalking about the triangle, are you falking about the 13 Ao Nooldonot, | iried to establish the thickaess
14 trangle that's formed by e transom, the trim tab and 14 af the transom lopking at that hwte by -- but [ wasn't
15 the piston? 15 able to actually look into the hole beeause the boat was
16 A. Nao, I'mnot. 16 in the water ond the angle § would lave had to have been
17 Q. What triangle are you talking abow? 17 at was impractical.
18 A, I'mtalking about the shape of the part that is 18 So [ took a wire (hat I bent at one end and 1
19 bolted to the transom. You can see here that it's a 19 didn't rebend, |inserted that inte the hote and iried to
20 triangte, not a circle, 20 cateh the inside edge and then pinched the outside edge of
21 Q. Iis-- It looks to me like it has two points in 21 the wire, and that -- By lat owethod, which is a -- By
22 the vertex at the top. s that - Is that what you sec? 22 that method, T established the temsom was a littke bit
23 A. Well, there -- There was - I'm thinking about 23 more than three guariers of an inch thick,
24 what was on my boat, 24 Q. Anddid you ever try and stick your finger in
Page 86 Page 88
1 Qo Yeah, 1 there and just feel it?
2 A, And there were three serew holes, each of which 2 A, lthink1did.
3 wits at a comer and there were no otler comes, 3 Q. Anddid you -- Did you eonfirm it to be abous
4 Q. Okay. And those three screw holes held the 4 fhree quarters -- three quitrters of an inch thick?
5 piston to the transoin; is that riglt? 5 A ldonirevall
6 A Yes. 6 Q. Okay. Sohow did vou remove the trim 1abs?
7 . Okay. And how deep were those serew holes? 7 A. [removed the -~ [ removad each of the connectors
8 A. Well the holes -- What I'm describing as screw 8 that Fve deseribed as being triangular in shape by taking
9 holes in the connector, went all the way through the 2 off the throe wowml screws per contector,
10 connector, Fdon't know how far the -- Well, the way 1 10 Q. Sothatsaiomal of 127
11 would determine how far the serews went into the trinsom 11 Ao Aol of 12 what?
12 s by tinking about the length of the screws. And again, 12 Q. Screws.
13 sitting here trying to recall the fength of serews that | 13 A. Screws, Three, six -- Yo, o totad of 12 screws,
14 removed three months ago is challenging, bot | think 14 Tiere was marine sealant between the connector
15 they'e about an inch and a quarter or an inch and a balf 15 and the transom --
16 infength. They may have been less, P sure they were 16 (. Okay.
17 el more 17 A, - that T - thay was acting like a kind ol glue.
18 Q. Seifwesay an inch oran ineh and a quarter, 18 Sol pricd the connectar oni of the sealant bringing it
19 were they wond serews with pointy ends? 19 away from the transom. And at that point, 1 observed the
20 A Yes 20 Nydraulic line roaning through e transom and inte the
21 Q. Sothey weren't through -- They weren't thra-hutl 21 piston, and Feat the hydraulic line, T pulted it inte the
22 liings! They weren't bolts? 22 boat -
23 A, No, they were nol. 23 Q. You cut the hydraulic line, did you say?
24 Q. So they just sunk into the gansom itself? 24 A, That's correct,
22 (Pages 85 to 88)
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Page 89 Page 91
1 Q. |didu't hear you. 1 Soafler having disconnested the trim tabs from
2 A Yes, |eut the hydrandic line that was renming 2 the tramsom --
3 trom inside the boat to the piston. 3 Q. Waitaminute. We're not there yet, are you?
4 Q. Okay. 4 A, Canlsay the next part? | think you'll
5 A And T pulled the hydmulic line into the buat and S understand.
6 removed it from the boat. & Q. Yeah,
7 Q. How? 7 A, After having disconnected the trim tabs from the
g A The-- Well, 1-- VIl go thoough step-by-step. 8 transony above the water line, removing those 12 serews,
9 1 cut the hydreulic lite with sheers, then on the 9 peeling them cut of the seakimt and cuiting the hydraulic
10 juside of the boat working from the lazarette where the 10 Fines that ran From the - through the transosn, the rim
11 hydraulic pump was, | putled the - So there was the 11 f(abs were then hanging down in the water rom a bracket
12 hydraalic pump for the trim tabs there off of which the 12 that was balted below the water line, 1 picked the trim
13 hydraulic lines came and | was able to grasp the hydraulic 13 tabs up bevause now they're very floppy, pivoting around
14 line there and pull it in. 14 the brackel.
15 Q. How did you get there? 15 Q. Soyoucould pick them up so that they --
16 A, [accessed the fazarette through the hatch in the 16 A, Solnow have thewn bent up oul of the water.
17 deck above the Inzarette that | eireled. 17 Q. Okay. Let mejust stop you.
18 Q. From that haeh? 18 On Exhibit 3, this is the trim 1ab?
19 A Yes 19 A, Ub-hub.
20 Q. Okay. Very good. Okay. 20 Q. What's this to the lower lefi ol the Nberglass
21 MR. SANTOS: Sorry. Is this from the survey? 23 plug? What's this half-moon shape on the left side ol the
22 MR. FARRELL: Yvs, 22 photo?
23 MR. SANTOS: What page? 23 A. That's part of a picce of metal that was at the
24 THE DEPONENT: Page 19, and then Teircled 24 cdge of the trim 1ab going wp vertically. | don't know
Page 90 Page 92
1 the deck hatehes. 1 {is name o7 {18 pumose.
2 MR. SANTOS: Okay, 2 Q. Did it somchaw anchor the piston?
3 BY MR. FARRELL: 3 A Ddon'tbelieve so.
4 Q. Soyou were able to reach all four hydaliv 4 Q. Was it the whele length -- Was it gencrally as
5 hoses ftom that hateh? 5 long as the trim tab itsell’?
6 A, That's correct. | wasn't able to reach them 6 A, Well, if we see the distance between that and the
7 directly, [wis - So [ wasn't able to actually get my 7 edge of the trim tab lere --
g hand to the point where they penetrited the hull, buc | 8 Q. Yos,except tor that, veah.
9 was able to pull them through becouse all of the hoses 9 A, I'd cstimate that there was a simibar distance on
10 came oft of the pump, which was casily accessible through 10 the other edge of the trim tab.
11 Ut hatch. 11 Q. Butothenwise, it was the full length?
12 Q. Yeab, okay. Allright. And then so what did you 12 A Yes,
13 do to make sure that there was nohydoaulic leak? 13 Q. And what was -~ What did it do?
14 A, F--1-- What did 1 do? So i got that. Fm 14 A. don't know.
15 trying to recall it | removed the pump or not. 15 Q. Andyou don't remember il as being a -- some sort
1¢ 1 believe | removed the pump that contained the 16 of anchor for the piston?
17 hydrwbic fhud, 17 A, Tdonot
18 Q. Okav. Altright, Then what did - Then what did 18 (. Okay. Any way, with the pistons removed, this
19 youdo? 19 trim tab would flop down so that it would be --
20 The guestion was, how did you remove the trim 20 A, Ub-huh,
21 ftahs? 21 MR, SANTOS: You have to say yos.
22 A, Sure. P A Yo
23 Q. Were yeuin the water? 23 Q. Would it be sort of lush with the transom then
24 A, No, Dwas sot in the water. 24 if'it was not being held by anything?
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Page 93 Page 95
1 A, 1ewould be almost Nush with the transom, 1 Now, that may or may not be a technically
2 Q. And you're saying vou could alse -- All right. 2 pecurate drawing from an engineering perspoctive, but |
3 Sotake it from there, 3 think it will help you understand how the trim tab moved
4 A, Sure. Solthen was able to pull the trim 1ab up 4 upand down,
5 soil's out of the waler so the sngle between the transom 5 Q. Andwas that -- Where was that bracket in
6 wnd the surlace of 1he trim tab would have been less than & connection with the water line?
7 90 degrees. 7 A, That bracket was below the water fine.
8 Q. Okay. 8 Q. Okay. Was the water line separate lroin the
2 A, And | was able 1o strike the corner of the trim 9 hottum paint?
10 tab with a hammer in order o meve fhe trim b 10 A, Yes. Lthink the water line was slighty below
11 horizontally sliding it out of the bracket. 11 the botlom paint.
12 Q. Solooking at Exhibil 5. you're talking about 12 Q. QOkay. And-- So vou pushed the -- 1f this is the
13 where it suys BXT? 13 starboard trim tab, you pushed it furthier to starboard.
14 A Yes. 14 A. Correct.
15 Q. Having removed the pistons -- 15 Q. Okay. And you were able to easily remove it?
16 A, Uh-hub, Yes 16 A Yes
17 Q. -- you were able to slide the bottom piece, which 17 Q. Okay. Did this piece that is
18 s sort of in this photograph -- T mean, in this picture, 18 rectangularly-shaped with no apparent curves in it wilh
19 Exhibit 5, it's now sorl of perpendicular 1o dw transony; 19 what looks o be a number of serew holes in it remain
20 is that correct? 20 onboard attached to the trinson after you did that?
21 A. Yes. Intha picture, the bottom picce is 21 A, Yes. The bracket that was bolted to the transom
22 perpendicular to the transom, 22 remained attached 1o the transont.
23 . And you were able to slide it which way? Or vou 23 Q. Okay. Did you take it afT at any point?
24 kit it with a hammer you said? 24 A, Tdid not.
Page 94 Page 96
1 A, That's correct. 1 Q. Ckay. Do you know what those screws -- Do you
2 Q. Lets say this was the starboard one. Which way 2 know il those screws were thru-bohed?
3 would you hit it? 3 Ao Ddonot know,
4 A, Lbelieve it would have gone either way, My 4 Q. Soleaving that -- | don't know what kind of
5 recollection is that | was working from the center line 5 mielal that is.
& wndl pushing it outwards. 6 What kind of metal was it?
7 Q. Okay. And it just slid on? 7 A. Tdon't know.
8 A, Yes, ldidn'tshide out with hand pressure 8 Q. Wasitahaninum? Was it slaintess?
9 akone, but by being -- When Tstruck e edge, it moved 9 A Passume it wasn't steel because | assume that
10 horizentally. 10 steel would rist. | have no way of knowing what type of
1l And il T can draw how 1 visualized the bracket, 11 metal.
12 Sothat is - What Fjust drew is the trim tab or this is 12 Q. Okay. Did it seem 1o be the same for the trim
13 the surface of the trim tab and -- 13 tab itsell as with the bracker?
14 Q. Arc we looking at it in its thinnest perspective? 14 A Pwasp'table to see the brackel because the
15 A Yes 15 hracket was entitely below the water line, so 1 couldi't
16 Q. So it's perpendicular to the transom in that -- 16 have compared the two types of metal.
17 i your drwing? 17 Q. Okay. So having taken the trim tab off, what did
18 A, Uh-huh, 18 youdo with it?
19 Q. AHrnght, So what's your -- Is this the 12 A, Dputitinthe back of my truck.
20 bracket? 20 Q. Anddid vou do that with bath of them?
21 A, Mo, that's the trim tab, 21 AL Bdid
22 Q. Allright. What's the cirele? 22 Q. And how long were they?
23 A, Where it fits into the bracked and then the 23 A, From -- Looking a1 the distance from the purt
24 bracked -- That's approximeately how §visualized it 24 side of the trim tab to the starboared side --
24 (Pages 93 to 96)
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Page 97 Page 99
1 Q. Ofan-- I'm talking about how long was an 1 A, Uhad used it on the boat -- a small 14-Toot boat
2 individual trim 1ab? There were two, right? 2 that | currently own to pateh holes above the water line
3 A Y. Ofan individual triny b, they were 3 in that boat.
4 probably 18 inches in length by maybe eight or 16 inches 4 Q. s this the aluminum boat that your were
5 indeph. 5 mentioning?
& Q. Okay. Soyou put them in your truck? 6 A, Yes
7T A Yes 7 Q. And what were the dimensions of the holes that
& Q. Okuy. Then what did you do regarding the trim 8 you patched?
9 tabs? 9 A. They were rectimgular and a very rough
10 A. Then | proceeded 10 seal the holes, | believe ] 10 approximation would be one inch by two inches.
11 wenl to West Marine in this period of time. | don't think 11 Q. Okay. When had you done that?
2 1 bought the sealant before taking the trim tabs ol 12 A. |had done that shortly after purchasing the
12 So 1 then went to West Marine, 1 purchasad 13 boat, which woutd have been - 161 bought the boat in
14 materials o seal the holes and | came back -~ 14 2004, it would have been sometime in 2014,
15 Q. What were they? 15 Q. Whatdoes J.B. Weld stand for; do you know?
16 A, 5200 Marine Seatant, 1 had epoxy pulty that to 16 A, Msabrand mame. 1 don't know what LB is an
17 me appearad identical to a J.B. Weld, although it wasn't 17 acromym for, if anything.
18 labefed as 1B, Weld because it was being sold at West 18 Q. Okay. And what was the fiberglass repair kit
19 Marine, and a fiberglass repair kil 19 that you bought?
20 1 don't nead 1o use the restroom right now, but 20 A. It was a product, a single product. as | recall,
21 if there doos come a break at some point, 1 will need to 21 that contained some Nberglass mat and --
22 use the restroon, 22 Q. Youmean, the fiberglass, the fabric itself?
23 Q. Okay. Sowhat's the 5200 manulfacturer? Is that 23 A, That's correct. ‘The Iabric that's designed 1o be
24 N7 24  satarated with resin to be -- 1o make it hard -- 1o wm
Page 98 Page 100
1 A Yes 1 il into fiberghass,
2 Q. Okay. And how did -- How much of that did you 2 . Okay.
3 buy? 3 A, Soit comtained! [iberglass mat or fabric. B
4 A. |purchased -- I think | purchased one tube. 4 contained containers -- emply containers for mixing, |
s Q. Andwhat West Marine store? & {hink it contained a set of gloves to keep your hands
6 A. Atthe West Marine in Narragansett, in the same 6 clean while mixing the resins. It contained onc or --at
7 parking lot as Stop & Shop. 7 least one and may have contained a couple different
§ Q. Okay. And what day did you buy that? 8 liquids that -« one of which was resin and | don't know
9 A. |bought that on the same day tat I removed the o what the other ones wee right now,
10 trim tabs, which would be the Saturday before the boat 10 It also contained instrictions on how to use the
11 sank, 11 items in the kit to perfonn cenain types of repairs.
12 Q. lsthat -- Is that September 1 7ih? 1z Q. Okay, Do you want to go to the men'’s room?
13 A, ltshould - Yes, it would be September 17th. 13 A, Yes, please.
14 Q. Okay. And this cpoxy pulty, what was that that 14 (O the record a1 2:11 pan)
15 vou purchased? 15 (Back on the record a1 2:48 pan.)
16 A. |- Itwasatong cylindrical stick, maybe four 16 BY MR, FARRELL:
17 or five inches in length. 1 don't remember what name 17 Q. With the Grady-White, had you ever bees onlside
18 brand it was. | think it was a West Marine store brand. 18 the sight of land?
19 Q. Okay. 1% A Yes
20 A, But]had experience using J.B. Weld. §looked 2¢ Q. Where?
21 at the instructions and atl of the information on the 21 A, When my mom and | went Bshing in New Hipshire.
22 packet and everything there appeared to be identical or 2o We wentoul | believe as fur as 4 miles.
23 nearly identical to 1.B. Weld. 23, What kind of fishing?
24 Q. What was your expericnce using J.B, Weld? 24 A, Wewere fishing for cod.
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Page 101 Page 103
1 . What kind of {ishing? 1 the boat sank. And it's iy understanding that the Coast
2 A Can you clarity? 2 Guard did not receive a sigual from the EPIRB. [owas in
3 (). What -- What gear were you using (o catch the ved 3 the bracket at the time Usag the boat sank, so 1 don'l
3 lish? 4 believe it would have gone off,
5 A We were using rod and reel with jipgs, dimmond 5 Q. Did your mother use credit cards?
¢ jigs and Norwegian figs, 6 A, Yo, shedid
7 Q. Were you catching them? 7 Q. Would she have used a eredit card to bay it
8 A, Yes, we did catch some cod, 28 online?
g Q. Where were you? 9 A, Ilshebought it online, presumably.
10 A, We caught cod, | dan't think its Coxes Ledge in 10 Q. Ise't that what you said, you thought she bouglt
11 New Hampshire, I's the - IUs not Coxes, it's not 31 itonline?
12 JeNieys, 1 don't think, ‘Hhere's a ledge oV Hamplon 12 A, |think she baught itoaline,
13 Beach - some distance off Hampton Beach, and that's where 13 Q. Did you have a radio on the boat?
14 we caught most of the cod fish. We did also go out past 14 A, Yos, there was o VHE rudio on the boat.
15 (hat. We didnt eateh much out there, but we tried. 15 Q. Was it working?
15 Q. Didyou ever go luna fishing in the Grady-White? 16 A Brwas
17 A No. 17 Q. Didyoutestin?
16 € Had you ever pone tuna fishing in -- What is it? 18 A. ldon'i-- Yhelieve that | tested it at the time
19 |5 it the Chicken I'ox? Is that the name of the boat that 19 -~ on the trip when the boat sank previously. Sometines
20 sank? 20 when | went out, | would pick up the radio and say radic
21 A. The Chicken Pox was the name that had been on the 21 testand -
22 back of the boat at one thne when Brian Woods put it in 22 Q. Letmestop you Mr, Carman.
23 the water and took pictures of it. Then when some of the 23 1asked you, did you test the radio?
24 emergency gear, | think when the EPIRB was registered, the 24 AL Whew?
Page 102 Page 104
1 name Chicken Pox was used. 1 Q. Lwvern
2 Q. His PRI 2 AL Yes
a A. No, the EPIRD that was on the boat at the time it 3 Q. When?
4 sank. When that was registered, the name Chicken Pox was 4 A. ©-- Numerous times when going out, T would pick
5 used for that registration. The boat had no mame aftixed S wp - Tl way | tested it was by picking up the radio,
6 1o it when Towned it. I was just my boat. 6 thumbing the miv and saying please give e a radio cheek,
7 €. What EPIRB was on the boat when it sank? 7 And il 1 heard semeone respand to that, | knew that it
8 A An EPIRB of the type that is mounted in a bracket & went out.
9 and is 1o be activated manually or moved it from the g Q. Okay. Amdwhen did you last give a redio check
10 bracket. And cither - Ftiink you can push a button or 10 fest like that prioy to the boat sinking?”
11 il you submerge it in water while it's out ol the brackel. 11 A, Ly have done that when -
12 it will be activated. 12 (). No. Tothe best of your ability, I'm not asking
12 Q. Did you buy that? 12 for you to guess, 'm not asking for you to give me
14 A No,my mom bought i, 14 possibilitics.
15 3. Where did she buy it? 15 Whea did vou last check the radio prior 1o it
16 A Idontknow. [hink she gotitanline. | 16 sinking?
17 don'tknow exactly though, 17 AL bheheve thint ested it when [awent o get
16 (). Where can we pet the receipt fur that? 18 fuel for the boat for the trp that my mom and 1 went out
19 A. Ldont know, My mom bought it shonly alter | 19 on when the boat sank, which would lave been the Satusdiy
20 purchased the boat. | don't know any details about the Z0  before the boat sank.
21 purchase of it 23 Qu The 1T0?
22 Q. Is it your unterstanding it weat off when the X A Yes
23 bt sank? a3 Q. And what's the basis of that beliet?
24 A. Fhave no knowledge of it having gone off when 4 A, That | recatl having checked the radio
26 (Pages 101 to 104}
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Treguently. [ don't recall physically kaving picked up
the mic on that trip and dene it 1just - a general
sense.

(3. Okay. 'masking you, when did you list test the
radio from your vesse! prior to the sinking? When do you
have a specilic recolleetion of doing it?

A. lgant conneet any of my recollections toa
date. I can say that Ehave numerous recollections of
doing it while in the harbor and | believe thit one of
those occasions was the day prior.

Q. But that beliel is not based on a specifie
recollection; is hat correct?

[ A - N S

[T
Mo O W

Page 107

Q. Whynot?

A, Thave it deeply engrained in me that you doat
signal for distress unless you are in imminent -« your
Life or limb is in imminent jeopardy. And 1 didn'
realize the boat was sinking until it sank.

The Coast Guard asked e in the brieling that |
wat down with them for afler I got back to band, they
asked ne what du you wish you Trad done differenily? And
the two (hings 1 said was | wish we had wom life vests
and 1 wish that as soon as [ saw water in the boat, |
picked up the radio and said pan, pan, pan, this is our
position, there’s water in the boat, I'm trying o

13 A Yes 13 diagnose the problem, but here's where we are both
14 (. Who mounted the bracket for the EPIRB? 14 physically and siwationally.
15 A Ldid 15 Q. Where were you?
16 Q. Andhow was the EPIRD registered? 16 A Wewere at Block Canyon.
17 A, 1dont wnderstand the question, 17 Q. Do you have any coordinates for where you were?
18 {3, An EPIRB gives off a signal if it's activated. 18 A No
19 A, Uh-huh. Yes. 19 . And were there any vessels on the horizon?
2¢ Q. Didanybody call any awthorities or get in touch 20 A No
21 with any authesities reganding the EPIRB and saying that 21 Q. Was your iadar operating?
22 it was on this boat and this boat is owned by so-and-s07 22 A No
23 Any registration of the EPIRD and the signal? 23 0. Soyou didnt have any vessels visible on the
24 A, Yes. My mom registered the EPIRE on the boat and 24 hovizon?
Page 106 Page 108
1 she did that with NOAA. 1 A, Comect,
2 ). Andhow do you know that? 2 Q. Andyou don't know by radar whether there were
3 A, Because she told me, 3 uny vessels that may Tave been beyond your visibility on
4 Q. Okay. Do vouknow what she told you -- What is 4 the horizon?
5 the information that she gave NOAA? 5 A. Comect.
6 A Whatever fanm vou need 1o {ill eut 1o register 6 Q. Duewan expanded view that the radar might have
7 the EPIRB. 7 given you?
8 Q. And her name is? 8 A, That's cormect.
% A, Linda Cannan. 9 Q. Soasfaras you knew, you were alf alone?
10 . And where on the boat was the EPIRB mounted? 10 A, Dwasn't awase of any vessels in proximity to my
11 A, The EPIRB was mounted in the cabin inmediately 11 yessel,
12 phove where the Nues and other safety gear was kept, 12 Q. Inproximity, how many mile distance would you
13 Q. Okay. Could it be nanually activated? 13 suy?
14 A, Ldon't know for a fact il there was a hutton on 14 A, | had no knowledge of the nearest vessel
15 the BEPIRE, that by pressing the butten would manually 15 Q. And how much water did you sec in the bilge --
16 activale the EFIRB, or if you would have 1o dump the EPIRB 16 A Tsaw .-
17 in water in order to activate it 17 Q. - when you lirst became alammed?
18 But ves, il you could physteally dunk the EPIRB 18 A |saw what | would chareterize as a ot of
1% i water to activate it cestainly. 19 water, It was up to the battery boxes.
20 Q. Did you make any distiess signals on the VHE 20 Q. And tisn wouldn't preset you with imsinemn
23 nwdio? 21 danger of sinking?
22 AL bdid ot 22 A, The -- 1 -- It didn't enter my mind that we were
23 Q. This is when the boat was sinking, you did not? 23 jndistress. [Cemered my mind that we had a problem and
24 A, Comect. 24 that 1 needed 1o dingnose the problent. But 1just - You

27 (Pages 105 to 108}
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Page 109 Page 111
1 dont eall the Coast Guard unless you absolutely need 1 Q. Okay. And you opened that wid tooked inand you
2 them. 2 saw the water a couple of inches from the deck undermeath
3 Q. Whoteld you that? Did you leam that in your 3, right?
4 Conpecticut course? 4 A Yes
5 A, Yes, ] leamed that in my Connecticut counse. 5 Q. Okay. And you didn't think you were in distress?
6 . What did they el you? 6 A. Althat point when | saw that the water wis elose
7 A, Ldowt rementber wlist they told me specitically, 7 1o the deck. T proceeded to move e safety gear forward
8 bhut §just -- 8 while my mem was bringing in the fishing lines.
¢ Q. What about the man that you hired to tuke you out g Q. Soyoure no longer dingnosing the problem?
10 un the boat? Did he et you never to calt the Coast 10 A, Atthat point, P'm not agtively diagnosing the
11 Guard unless yow're sinking? 11 problem.
12 A, We wend over -- We did go over how W place 12 Q. Yowre preparing lo abandon (he ship: is that
13 distress signat while he was out on the boat with us and 13 right?
14 also the circwmstances ander which you place o distress 14 A, I'm prepaning for the possibility that that may
15 signal, which are jeopardy of life or imb, whether that's 15 benecessary.
16 [rom an injusy where somebody needs to be mede aced or 16 Q. Soyou thought that it might be necessary for you
17 whether that's the boat is sinking, But it -- My thought 17 o abamlon ship? You had that possibility in mind?
18 was fix the problem. And that's - 18 Thal's the reason you were imoving things forward?
19 Q. What did you do to fix the problem? 19 A. Yes. Fwas moving things forward in ease Ukt
20 A, Dwem to the batch that was over the seacock 20 hecamy fecessary,
21 that Ive desernbed to you and | attempted to establish 23 Q. And where were Uiese things tit you were moving
22 whether or ot the seacocks had faited in any way. 22 forward?
23 Q. Okay. 23 A, ‘Thethings were stored in (he cabin under the -
24 A, |saw at that point that the water was above the 24 Let me describe fuy you how the cabin -
Page 110 Page 112
1 level of the seacocks. 1t was elose to - It was above 1 Q. Justtell me, whete were they!
2 the fevel of the seacocks, 2 A They were in the cabin gencrally under where the
3 Q. Haow far below the deck? 3 steerng wheel is.
4 A. Not very lar below the deck, 4 Q. Okay. And how proximate 1o that area is the
5 Q. Iiches, please. 5 mdio microphone?
& A. Three inches, 6 A. The radio mictophone is above the steering wheek.
7 Q. Okay. 7 Q. Withina couple feet of where youre grabbing
8 A, And it wasn't - | couldn’t see through it 8 these things?
9 bevause it was the color of engine oil. 3 A, Yes. The things are on the floor and the rudic
10 Q. Was there any smell t it besides engine oil? 10 micruphone is above,
11 A, There was no smell to the water that I perceived, 11 Q. And you didot use the radio at that paint?
12 but it was the color of engine ol 1 A, Hhats comrect,
13 Q. Was there any diesel smell? 13 And you - And you didn't - You didn’ use the
14 A No. 14 radio, although you thought you might have to abandon ship
15 Q. Was there any smoke? 15 beeause -- Why didn't you use the radio? | dont
186 A. There was notl. 16 understand.
17 Q. Was there any soot? 17 A 1thought 1 was being cautious by moving (he
18 A Intheai? 18 things forward. 1thought that when - My plan. to the
1¢ Q. Yes 16 extent that 1 had one, was to get the things in a safe
20 A, No.there was no soot in the air. 20 spat so that in the worse ease seenariv, we would have
21 0, Okay. SuinJooking -- And this is the port 21 ghem there. And o then put my hand into the water, try
22 hateh we're fooking at? 22 1o establish back at the hatch, try 10 feel around and see
23 A, Yes. Thisis the circular hatch in the cockpit 23 what is wrong down there, if that’s where the problem is.
24 dueck on the port side. 24 Q. Did vou conclude that the bilge pumps weren't
28 (Pages 109 to 112)
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Page 113 Page 115
1 working? 1 smart guy. How do you explain thin?
2 A, lwasnt able to hear the bilge pump nmning. 2 A, | eel that D would be speeadating it 1 wied 10
3 And obviousky -+ 3 answer that.
4 Q. Youhad two working bilge pamps, (o yom 4 Q. Okay. Well, have you thought through your mind
b knowledpe? 5 in the time since September 18th when e boat sank. how
3 A At the tine we el the dock, that -- earlier, 10 & did it sink by bow first? Have you considerad that
T my knowledge, bath bilge pumps were operational. 7 question?
8 Q. Butyou didn't huar cither of them operating 8  A. DPveconsidered how it sank, yes.
9 during this period preceding your discovery of all the 8 Q. What possible factors can you comie up with that
10 water under deck? 10 it would sink bow first?
11 A, ldid sot. When the engine was nunming, Twould 11 A. The fact tha the keel is deeper fore than gl
12 pot have Been able to Tear the bilge pump and it was 12 Soat the very front of the boat, obviously its sloped.
13 submerged a the time that T opened the hatch. 13 so | dont know how deep the keel would be refitive to the
14 Q. lsitfair to conclude that with the presence of 14 cockpit, but it's - The cockpit is shallawer than
15 bl that water, tat the bilge pumps were not fisetioning 15 midships and slightly forward of the midships.
16 correctly? i6 Q. So the last time you see your mother, She's
17 A, Yus. 17 reehing in the lines?
18 Q. Wiaatwas your mother doing during this period 18 A Yes,
15 that you weee moving things forward from the wheelhouse or 19 Q. Okay. And wlhere are you?
20 fiom the pilot ouse o the forward part of the boat? 20 A I'matthat point moving forward from the hatclt
21 A. She was in the cockpit bringing the fishing lines 21w the wheethouse to start moving stuft lorward.
22 in. z2 Q. Did you say anything to her?
23 Q. And--So then she would hove been aft of the 23 A, 1--Earlics when 1 -- Right after I saw the
24 wheelhouse? 24 water in the engine compartiment is when 1 asked her to
Page 114 Page 116
1 A Yes 1 start reeling in the lines between -
2 Q. Okay. And was the boat -+ How was the buat 2 Q. Whydid you reel in the lines? Why did you want
3 aligned in the water at that point? 3 her o reel in the lines?
4 A, Tdon't understand, 4 A, Bevause fishing was not the top priority at that
5 Q. Was there -- Di! you notice the boat 10 have any 5 point. The - [Uslowed the boat down, so - Let me
6 problens operating hecause it was full of water? 6 clanify here,
7 A. Nu. The trim of the beat forward and aft was not 7 Alter having - seeing water in the bijge. |
8 perceptibly alterad until the boat sink. And as the boat 8 first brought the thrattle back to idle because we had
2 sank, it sank very -- The bow just drwopped down, 9 been trolling and | tumed the engine off.
10 Q. The bow went in first? 10 Q. Why?
11 A Yes 11 A, Because water was arownd the enging, so it was
2 Q. When's the last lime you saw your mother? 12 prudent to wm the engine off.
13 A, The last time saw my mom was when | made the 13 Q. Soany chance of the bilge pumps pumping water is
14 decision to go forvant and starl moving the saloty gear 14 shutoll?
15 Jrom the whecthouse 1o the bow of the vessel, 15 A, No
16 Q. And yeu were moving the safety gear 1o the bow of ie MR, SANTOS: 1dont think he answered the
17 the vessel, though it was pointing down toward tie - into 17 question.
18 the water? 18 Did you answer the question?
19 A, Atthat paint, the trim of the vessel was not 19 THF DEPONENT: What question?
20 pereeptibly alterad, 20 BY MR, FARRELL:
21 Q. Amd yowre actually saying that the vessel sank 21 Q. Why did you tem oft the engine?
z2 bow first? 2 A, [tumed of? the engine because after | had seen
23 A Yes. 23 waler in the bilge, the water was around the base of the
24 Q. Now, how can you exphain that? You seem like a 24 engine and se 1 thought that it would be prucent Lo shat
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Page 117 Page 1192
1 the engine off given that it was partially immersed. 1 dewatering the bont?
2 Q. Why? Why was it prudent to shat of¥ the engine? 2 A [didnt think about Tow to dewater the boat, 1
3 A. Becanse the - I condd suck in water when it's 1 was Tocused on Tow is water getting into the beat.
4 supposed 1o be sncking in air. Thent's - That's the first 4 So my thought was finst you stop water from
5 thought. 5 getting in, then you figure out hiow 10 get the water that's
[ Q. So any way, what were you saying o your mhother 6 already in out.
7 during this sequence? T Q. And you never did come up with the reason the
8 A. Soafter Fhad brought the -- You say during the 8 water came in; is that correct?
9 sequence, so el me -- ¢ A, Thal's corect.
16 Q. Well, the fast thing Fheard you say to your 10 Q. And you never caune up with a means af geiting the
11 mother was reel i the tines. 11 water cn?
12 A, Uh-hub 12 A, That's correct.
13 Q. s that comrect? 13 Q. Youshut the engine down.
14 A Yes 14 A Tdid
15 Q. Something lo that elliet. 15 Q. Then what happened?
i6 A Yes. 16 A. Solshut e engine down, then [ went to the
17 Q. Did you say anything to her afler that? 17 circular hateh on the port side on the top deck and that’s
18 A No 18 when | Ioaked into the batch and saw that the water was
19 . Had you said anything to her about the water in 12 about three inches below the deck and | wasn't able 1o see
20 the bilge prier to your saying bring in the lines? 20 (hrougl it o visually determine the condilion of the
21 A, ldidnot 21 seacocks.
22 Q. Okay. Se during this evolution of water in the 22 Q. How did you know the water was - How did you
23 bitge and shutting down the engine and afl that, and 23 know you had water in the bilge before opening that hateh?
24 moving stul¥ from the wheelhouse forward und not setting 24 A Well, Thad - The way | established water in the
Page 118 Page 120
1 off the EPIRB and not using the tadio. during this time 1 bilge was by looking into the hateh forward of the
2 when you're diagnosing the problem, the only words you 2 wheelhouse,
2 have with your mother arc bring in the lines? 3 Q. Oh, youopened thn hatch, foo?
4 A, Yes, something to that ciTect. a A Sowhat happened was | looked into the bateh
5 . Okay. And-- 5 forward of the wheelhouse where Fsaw a lot ol water in
6  A. Could1clabomte theee? 6 thebilge. Then to establish why water was geting inte
7 Q. Ll ask you a guesiion. 7 the boat, | went 1o the arca where the seacocks were. My
8 MR, SANTOS: Just for the record, 1do think 8 first thought was something is wrong with the seacocks,
9 he should be permitted to claborte. o maybe a hose has come off, maybe a seacock has failed
10 BY MR, FARRELL: 10 totally of something is wrong in that arca because that's
11 Q. Didyou putona life jacket? 11 where most of the hole fitlings were.
12 A ldidne 12 So Lwent 1o (hat area. 1 wasn't able to see the
13 Q. Did you toss 2 life jacket 10 your mother or 13 seacocks. Twent - So 1 saw the water in the bilge, then
14 olfierwise instruet fwer o put eiee on® 14 | med the bost off and powered it down. Then ! went o
15 A No 15 that - to the area where the seacocks were. And as | was
16 Q. Did vou contemplate iy other course of action 16 doing that, | was asking my maont 1o bring in the lines,
17 since the bilge pumps weren't working to dewater the boat? 17 And then when saw tin Lwass't able to
18 A. My first prierity was finding out how water was 18 establish the condition of the seacocks visuafly, | went
19 getting into the bout and shutting ofi that means of 19 and I started bringing the salety gear forward, As Lwas
20 infilteation before thinking about dewatering that. 20 bringing the salety gear forward, ile boat sank.
21 Q. Did you determine what that was? 21 Q. How many trips forward did you make with safvy
22 A No. 22 pear?
23 €. Allripht. After thi lirst prionity is ln!wn 23 A. Tmade two trips Torward snd the boat sank as |
24 care of. did you come up with any other ideas Tor 24 was carrying --
30 (Pages 117 to 120)
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Page 121 Page 123
1 Q. Where did you put -- 1 Weld.
2 A Ineedto finish my answer. 2 Q. Okay. Why did you buy 5200 thut day?
3 ) made two trips forward with safery gear that | 3 A, 1bouglt 5200 in order to seal the serew holes
4 completed and | was canying o third item forward when the 4 that were around the hall dolfar sized hotes, and T did
5 boat sank. 5 wse the 5204 for that purpose.
6 Q. Okay. And where were you placing these items? 6 Q. Okav. And the Bberglass Kit, wha did you use
7 A. Dwas placing tem on the - | was placing them 7 that for?
8 on the fish box forward of the wheelhouse. 8 A. |had purchased the fiberglass kit, along with
g Q. low far ofi the deck was the top of the fish box? 9 (he pulty, because | wasn't sure which ] would use to seal
10 A The fish bax was flush with the deck. 10 the Targer holes, and | first tried to scal the holes
11 Q. Okay. Whattime did you replice the hitge pump 11 using the fiberglass kit.
12 on Saturday the 17107 12 That was unsuccessiul because the liberglass
13 A, Whattime? Late moming to midday. 13 resin that 1 was putting in the holes according to the
14 Q. Okay. What time did the boat sink? 14 instructions in the kit kept llowing ouf because it was
15 A, lsank midday on Sunday the 18th. 15 still liquid and as T was pouring it in the hote, | wasa't
16 Q. Roughly 24 hours after? 16 able toseal the hiole on the outside well enough to keep
17 A Sure 147 it from flowing out unti! it hardened. And so I gave up
18 Q. Okay, Whattime did you take the trim tabs off? 18 un using the Mbergtass kit and instead used the ).B, Weld
19 A, Inthe afiemoon of Saturday the 17th. 19 - the J.B. Weld-like material with which | was familiar.
20 Q. Roughly what time? Or to the best of your 20 Q. And what time was that?
21 ability, what time? 21 A. That was in the time frame that | gave youw.
22 A. Late aftemoon, carly evening. People were 22 Q. Fmasking you to 11l me to the best of your
23 having ditmer, so around the time that peaple on the dock 23 ability -- It seems Tike it's Liter than when you took ol
24  would stant having dinner. 24 the trim tabs. Pm trying to ask you o give me a time
Page 122 Page 124
1 Q. Which would have been? By aclock, tellme. | 1 frame, please.
2 don't know, ’ 2 A. lvwas very shorly after | removed the trim
3 A, Maybe 5:00 plus or minus two hours. 3 tabs, very shorily afler.
4 Q. Some people eat dinner at 3:007 4 Q. How long did you fiddle around with the
5 A, I'mtrying to estimate the time for you and 1 S fiberglass?
6 don't know the time, so L want to make sure that the 6 A, ldidnot spend very long attempting 10 paich the
7 timing is most likely in the range that 1 give. 7 holes with the fiberglass. Maybe 15 to 30 minutes.
g Q. Givemethe time in a clock to the best of your g8 Q. Anditell me exactly what you did with this J.B.
o ability that you took off the trim fabs, taking them off g Weld-type material,
10 of the bracket, 10 A. lapened it, 1 opened the larpe package that was
11 A, Thebestof my ability as fur as a peint in the 11 plastic, I removed fhe plastic wrapper an the putty itself
12 day is late afternoon, carly evening. That's the best [ 12 and the sticker from the end of the pulty. | broke off a
313 can do, 13 picce of putty from the Targe stick that was - that
14 Q. Allright. Now, you have four holes in the 14 scemed to be the right size to patch the hole. 1 then
15  transom at that point? 15 kneaded it in my fingers so that it was an even color
16 A Yes 16 beeause tie -- The reason you knead it is to mix the
17 Q. Okay. What did you do, if anything, to those 17 outside layer with the inside layer, which creates the
18 four holes? 18 chemical reaction and causes it to hardern.
19 A Dput B, Weld putty in the holes so as to scal 19 So [ mined the two -- And the outside layer and
20 them. 20 the inside fayer are different colors, so when the putty
21 Q. LB Weld puity or did you use the West Marine 21 itselfis the same color consistently, you knew they're
22 version? 22 wel-mixed.
22 A. Excuseme. 1used the putty that I purchased at 23 Q. Okay.
24 West Marine than Pve described as being simitar to LB. 24 A, Solkneaded it in my fingers wntil the pulty was
31 {(Pages 121 to 124)
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Page 125 Page 127
1 aconsistent color, | then Toreed the putty inte the hole 1 . Dovcs it expand then From that shupe?
2 in the transom and 1 - and 1 smoathed ol -- smoathed ot 2 A No, it's -+ It does not expand,
3 on the outside cdge and tried Lo Foree it so that it was 31 Q. Okay. Sohow thick was the - Fmeim. how thick
4 --sothat it expanded and tilled the hole. 4 was the putty picee that you stuck in -+ Let's just start
5 Q. Do you have reccipts for that purchase? 5 with one hole.
6 A Mo, idonos 6 A, Well, { hnd it in a ball, so I'd measure
7 Q. Daes anybody have receipts from that purchase? 7 thickness in the approximate diameter of the sphere.
8 A, @dont know if the receipts from the - [ don't 8 Q. Ub-huh
9 know il the receipts frony the pruchase of the putty and 9 A And I'd sy maybe an inch in dinmeter is the size
10 fiberplass repair kit would he in my truck or il 1 did not 10 of the sphere Bt 1 then compressed and tied 1o foree
12 take them with me from the store. 11 into the hote,
12 0. You dow't know? 1f they were in the truck, law 12 Q. Okay. And did you - Did the hote inside the
13 enforcement would lave them? 13 boat have any backing?
14 A, Presumably. 14 A. No,itdidnet. Following -- So following
15 Q. And you boughs -- And this was along with the 15 instructions from the fiberglass repair kit, T had balled
16 5200 and the Gberglass, the three items you bought at the 16 up a piece of paper towel becawuse the fiberglass reprur
17 Narraganselt West Marine -- 17 kit instructions specifically suid that il you can't
i858 A Yes 18 access the back of the hole to keep the resin from flowing
19 Q. --onthe day of September 17007 19 out the back, the way to handle that was to ball up a
20 A Yus 20 picee of paper towek or sindlar material and shove it into
21 Q. Okay. 21 the hole to seal the back end and then pour the resin in.
22 MR. O'CONNELL: And the bilge pump? 22 I followed those instructions when using the J.B.
23 BY MR. FARRELL: 23 Weld-type putly.
24 Q. Oh. yeah. Didyou buy the bilge pump there, wa? 24 Q. A pieve of paper towel, is that what you said?
Page 126 Page 128
1 A Lbought the bilge pumpat -« Fwent to the 1 A, Thats correct. It didn't seems Hhe much, but
2 Narragansctt West Marine w leok for a bilge pump and then 2 thowght it was a pice exim step and it coukdn't i, ;
3 ko went to the West Marine in -- What do you calk it? 3 didn' think it was absolutely necessary, but |didn't see
4 Newporl, Rhode Island or in -- or near -- 4 how it could hurt,
5 ML OCONNELL: Middletown? 5 Q. Andthat's a techniyue that you use with
6 A Middictown, Rhode lsland. To look for a bilge 6 liburglass?
7 pump. Dihink | bought the bilge punip at the West Marine 7 A, That's o teehpique that was suggested in the
8 in Middletown. Rlwxde Island, 8 instruction handbeok from the liberglass tepair kil
9 (). Yougrew up in Middletown, Connecticut, right? 9 Q. Was there any such instruction in the West Marine
10 A. Yes, Connecticul, 10 product that you used?
11 Q. Okay. Sowhatis this? Anepoxy? Isita 11 A, The West Marine putty comtained no detaited
12 putty? What is the stefl you filled the hole with? You 12 instructions on how ko use it in specific applications.
13 say il's astick. 13 [t only said how - that you're supposed to break it off
14 A Ub-buh, 14 andmuix it Jelidnit say here's how youw use it in the
15 (. Whatis the material? 15 specitic application. the way the fiberglass repair kit
16 A. Chemically Edon't know what the material is. 16 did
17 It's a play-doh bype substance, somewhere between pliv-doh 17 Q. Anddid you read any -- What weve the
18 and that really firm putty teat can make balls that are 18 imstructions that you read regarding the putiy”?
19 geally bouncy. 19 A, Tread the insert in the package.
20 Q. Silly putty? 20 Q. Okay. Andwhat did it tell you? What do yeu
21 A Yo 21 remember? What did you follow? Tell e what about the
22 0. Soits walleable? You can fit it into a shape 22 instructions and the insent that you Tollewed or that were
23 (hat you want it used to [ aheles s Gat - 23 significant 1o you
24 A Comreet 24 A. Sure. The instruetions in the inserd that |

DT,

32

(Pages 125 to 128)

-
Lepal

TEZA ..

Services

266 Franklin S1., Suite 1702 | Boston, MA 02110
617.846.8100 | blacklabellegalservices.com



EXAMINATION UNDER OATH OF NATHAN CARMAN

Page 129 Page 131
1 followed were ones tha | was already familiar with from 1 Q. Okay. And the price there is 23047
2 having used the product in the past, which was they 2 A. Yo, the price stated on Exhibit 6 is -
3 basically break a picee ofl, kncad it in your hands until 3 Q. Is that your recolioetion of fow much it cost you
4 it's of a consistent cator, and then insert it in the hele 4 to buy the item?
5 and wait for it to harden. 5 A, |don'trecall its price.
6 Q. And how tong docs it take w0 harden? 6 Q. Okay. Sojustso | anderstand, at the Middletown
7 A, It hardens in - From my experience, it hardens 7 store, you bought the bilge pump?
g quickly so that wlen you -- an hour or two, to a point 8 A. Yes.
9 where it you push your fingemail into it, your fingemanil 9 Q. Butat (he Narragansctl store, you bought the one
10 will bend or break rather than it getting  dent from yeur 10 epoxy stick, the one wbe of 52007
11 fingernail having been pressed into it 11 A Yes
1z 1 believe the cure time to an absobute hard cure, 12 Q. Amd the third item you bought there was the
13 [think the package said it was 24 hours. However, the 13 [iberglass?
14 puity was very bard in a much shorter period of time than 14 A Yes.
15 that and it was hard before we left the dock. 15 Q. Sothrec items and you don't know if you have a
16 Q. Fdowt know, Is that the product that you 16 receipt for those items [rom the Nartagansen store?
17 bought? 17  A. That's correct.
18 A Yes 18 Q. Andihkeone item of bilge pump from the
19 Q. Thisisit? Al right. 19 Middletown store, do you have a receipt lor thm?
20 THE DEPONENT: Da vou want to see the 20 A, 1don't think so.
21 picture? 21 Q. Was there one in your truck?
22 MR, SANTOS: Yep. Do you want (o pui that on 22 A, Nomuilly when | go to o store and | - the
23 the record? 23 cashicr hands me a veceipt, 1 tell them to discard itor |
24 MR, FARRELL: Yeah, I'm going to try to put 24 just throw it out as [ walk out the door. | don't
Page 130 Page 132
1 that on the record. 1 nonnally keep track of those paper articles.
2 BY MR. FARRELL: 2 Q. Arethose cash or credit card transactions?
3 Q. Reading from the telephone, it's West Marine 31 A. Credit - No, Debit card transactions,
4 Epoxy Putly Stick. And it's -« it's got a green kind of 4 Q. Okay. Soyour debil card would reflect these
5 cylinder that appears to be the produet. 5 purchases?
6 A Yo 6 A Yus
7 Q. Okay. How else would you describe it? 7 . Okay. What debit card would that have been?
8 A, I'd describe it as a eylinder of putty inside of 8 A. [Itwould have been the debit card from iy
§ a clear plastic eylinder that's part of i box or a 9 checking account at The Private Bank. Most of their
10 cardboard backing. 10 branches are in the Chicago area, but the name of the bank
11 Q. Okay. 11 s The Private Bank,
12 M, FARRELL: Is there any other way 1o put 12 Q. Okay. Do you have debit card receipts -
13 o the record the -- 13 pansactions reflecting these purchases?
14 ML O'CONNELL: Lot me print it 14 A. | have access to online banking. 1 ean Jook i
15 MR, FARRELL: Okay. Let's take a break. 15 the history of my onfine banking, which shuws debit card
16 {OfF the record at 3:29 pan.) 16 purchases going back a certain distance. And ifnot. I'm
17 {Exhibit No. 6, Copy of Online Piciure, 1% sure ] can contact the bank 1o get that recond.
18 marked for idemification). 18 Q. I'meeriainly interested in secing the purchases
19 {Back on tise record at 3:33 pa) 16 made at the Narvagansett West Marine store and the
20 BY MR. FARRELL: 20 Middletown West Marine store on September 17th, the
21 Q. We just printed that out. Is what's been marked 21 Sawrday, 2010,
22 as Exhibit 6 the item that you bought at - in the 22 A Okay.
23 Narragansett store? 23 Q. Arethere any other West Marine stores that you
24 A, lvappears to be, 24 mude purchases at in September of 20167 '
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Page 133 Page 135
b A Yes 1 (Exhibit No. 7, Receipt, marked for
2 Q. Where? 2 identification).
3 A. Anyother sores? Any other dates on which | 3 BY MR. FARRELL:
4 made purchases? 4 Q. Handing you Exhibit 7, is that the receipt for
5 [ty Seprember of 2016, 1 know Tmade - may be 5 the purchase you're tatking about?
6 speaking possibly more genemlly thin just September, | 6 A Itis
7 know 1 made purchases at the Mystie, Connecticut store and 7 Q. Okay.
8 also ala store that | believe is locawd in Warwick, 8 MR. FARRELL: Eight
9 Rhode Iskand. 9 {Exhibit No. 8, Prim-Out, marked for
10 Q. Andthese are all West Marine? 10 idemilication).
11 AL Yes. 11 BY MR. FARRELL:
2 (. Okay. Did you ever purchase materials sl warinas 12 Q. Daocs Exhibit 8 reflect the purchase you nide of
13 for the bom? 13 52007
14 A ldid i4 A, When?
15 Q. Whatkind of purclases did you make at those 15 Q. Cuthe 17th of September 2016,
16 marina stores? 16 A, ldog't remember whether the 3200 tha
17 A. 1purchased o hom at one of the marina stores, | 17 purchased at West Marine on September 17th was in this
18 purchased basic electrical connetors and critn conecton 18 type of tube or whether it was in the type of tube that
19 at another marina store, | think | bought putty - Excuse 12 you have to use a gun for. 1 did keep a gun for West
20 me. Notputy, but something simitar 1o 3200 a1 another 20 Maring -- excuse me -- for 3200-type sealant on the boat
21 arina store in various states sinee | purchased the boat. 21 in my teol kit. And so § - Fdon'tremenmber which type
22 Q. Audwhat did you do with that putty that you 22 of tube it was.
23 purchased from various marina stores? 23 Q. Soyou'retatking about 12 serew holes thit you
24 A | corrected myselll | didnt purchase putty. 24 pushed 5200 into the day of - the duy before the sinking?
Page 134 Page 136
1 purclised a product similar to S200. 1 A Yus
2 Q. Okay. Aund what did you do with that product? 2 Q. Yeudon't remember if you used a tube like
3 A, Dused it to seal the -- So when |was taking the 3 depicted in Exhibit § ora gun?
4 -~ When I pumped the fuel tanks out, Fremoved the tucl 4 A |think Tused a tube like this, but T am not
5 sending unit fram the tanks and 1 had to put the fuel 5 positive. And when | say like this, | mean fike depicted
6 sending unit back down. 1 wanted o seal between the & in Exhibit 8.
7 sending unit and the fue] tank itsell so that i water got 7 Q. Okay, And we would be sble o tell if you
8 on top of the luel tank, it wouldi't get in between the 8 purchased from West Marine an item like this, Exhibit 8,
9 sending unit and tank, and get into the tank itself, 9 Uit was probably the ene you used on the 17?7
10 So 1 used this sealant, which was the Jess 10 A, Yes, il - The 5200 that Lused on the 17t 10
11 pernunent version of 5200, to make a seal between the 11 seal the serew holes was the 5206 that | purchased a1 West
12 sending unit and the fuel tank. 12 Matine carlier that day.
13 Q. lsthat 42007 13 Q. Okay. Did you do anything else 1o secure e
14 A Ves. 14 four Il dollar sized hotes in the tansom before
15 ) Where'd you bay that? 15 departing?
16 A. | bought that at the marina store in the warina | 16 A No
17 was keeping the boat at. What was the name of the marina? 17 Q. How did you actuatly reach those holes?
18 I the marina ! kept the boat at aler PIM, after Point 18 A. By leaning over the tnsom while standing in the
19 Judith Marina, which is -- The name is stated in o few of 12 cockpil.
20 these documents. 20 Q. Okay. And is thal alse the manner in which you
21 Q. Letmesee if this refreshes your recollection. 21 removed (e piston and the trim tabs?
22 J'mi poing to hand that to you. 22 A Yoes, itis
23 A, Yes. Ram Point Marina. 23 (. Okay. So you didu't have the boat backeduptou
24 () Okay. 24 dock. you were just feaning over and doing it from the
34 (Pages 133 to 136)
AT A

Legal Services

265 Franklin St., Suite 1702 | Boslon, MA 02110

617.846.8100 | blackiabellegniservices.com

L




EXAMINATION UNDER OATH

OF NATHAN CARMAN

Page 137 Page 139
1 deck? 1 heat
2 A, Well, the back of the boat was -- It was backed 2 Q. Andthe life mfl, when did you buy tha?
3 into the slip, which was closer to another dock. But 1 3 A, Ibought the life raft - [Umay be rellected
4 was not accessing the transom Trom a dock. Twas 4 exactly on one of these invoices, P pretty sure it was
5 pecessing it from inside the cockpit, 5 one of the invoices Esent in that e-mail, which would
6 Q. Okay. Andyou didn't need to get in the water to & have been - Here's the invotee number for the life mit
7 doit? 7 on January 8th, 2016, That sounds right te me.
8 A, No, Ldid not. g Q. Okay. Isthe lifemfl depicted -
5 Q. Okny. Soletmeunderstand, You baught the boat 9 MR. FARRELL: Lets mike this an exhibit,
10 for $4500, right? 10 {Exhibit No. 10, Phatograph. marked for
11 A. 45,000, 131 identification).
12 Q. $45,000, sorry. Butyou initinlly insured it for 12 2Y MR. FARRELL:
13 66,000 or so with Boat U.S.? 13 Q. Exhibit 10, is the like ruft depicted in tha
14 A, That's correct. 14 photograph?
15 Q. And that was based on what, on the survey? 15 A s,
16 A, Thatwas based on the valuation given by the 16 Q. Do you know when that photograph was taken?
17 surveyor when the survey was done. 17 A. Happears  have heen taken when the prop wis
18 Q. Okay. And then you increased the hull vatue of 18 heing chianged by a diver (hat Thired, And [ base that
19 the boat with Boat U.5.7 19 off of the -- what 1'd call debris on the deck where the
20 A, That's correct. | increased the hul value to 20 boat is Ged, | remember that distinctive debris having
21 reflect the extensive moneys that | had speat investing in 21 been at the dock when the prop was being changed.
22 the boat in clectronics and other equipment. 22 Q. Okay. And when was thal?
23 MR. FARRELL: Let's mark this as Exhibi 9, 23 A. That was within probably approximately two weeks
24 isit? 24 ofthe date on which the bot sunk.
Page 138 Page 140
1 (Exhibit No. 9, E-Mails, marked for 1 €. Soit probably was during the month of September
2 identification). 22067
3 BY MR. FARRELL: 3 A, Yes, ]believe it was duning the momth of
4 Q. Handing you what's been marked as Exhibil 9, does 4 September.
5 that reflect the improvements you made on the boat to 5 Q. Okay. And sothen we have - Does this depict
6 increase its value 1o a hulf value for insurince purposes 6 the boat as it was ripged and equipped at the time of the
7 of roughly S§8,000° Therd's several pages of duocumenis 7 sinking?
8 there. g A Yes
9 A, Sure. Let me read them. 3 . Okay. This is just the same photograph, but a
10 Yes. This e-mail appears w be tie ene that | 16 slightly fenger view of the sterm; would you apree?
11 sent reporting my request to increase the vatue of the 11 A bwould,
12 boal, 12 Q. Okay.
13 Q. Okay, The EPIRB isnot in that list, is it? 13 MR, FARRELL: Thisis Fxhibit 1
14 A, No. My mom had purchiased the EPIRB, so | didn't 14 {Exhibit No. 11, Photograph, marked for
15 have invoices for it, 15 identification).
16 (. Anything else that she purchased for the bont 16 BY MR, FARRELL:
17 besides the EPIRB? 17 Q. Whotook this photograph?
18 A, Yes. She - Whal did she buy? She boughs her 18 A, Ddon't know. 1was not aware that the boat was
19 own lite vest, she bought folding chairs for us Lo use 19 photopraphed when the prop was changed. The only time the
50 while onboard the boat, She Rad a cuoler, 1 don't know if 20 boat was at that dock was when -- Oh, that's another time
21 she - that we had vwned betore | got the boat, but that 21 the boat was at the dock.
22 we nsed on the boat. That was her cooler, 22 When my wem and | weat Bshing, 1dont remember
23 What clse did she buy for the boat specitically” 23 which fishing irip it was that we took, but we had docked
24 And that’s att that § recatl that she purchased for the 24 there to go to a bait and tackle shop newby.
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Page 141 Page 143
1 Q. Where is this picture? 1 Q. And you never asked iunybody Tor their advice as
2 A. This pieture is at Point Judith -- Yeah, Point 2 o where it should go?
3 Judith Galilee near where the state docks are. The state 3 A 1spake tomy mom about it and she seemed to be
4 docks are actually visible in the background. The state 4 in concurmence with the spot that T had chosen.
5 boat launch at the end of the eseape road in Galilee is 5 Q. Canyou show me where you -- Can you show me
6 aver here, which is very near to where the boat is docked & where your mother was when you last saw her?
7 in this picture, 7 MR. SANTOS: And you're showing him on --
8 . Sort of to the Tefl ol this photograph? Is that 8 MR. FARRELL: Exhibit 11,
9 where you were pointing when you -« 9 A. From tiun picture, | can’t point to a spevilic
10 A, Yes. Ifthe person standing in the photograph - 10 area. |ean say that she was in the cockpit. And part of
11 IFyou're facing forward Tooking at what this photograph 11 the cockpit is shown in that photograph.
12 depiets, the boat ramp - the state boat ramp in Galitee 12 Q. Isit-- Is where shie was standing obscared by
13 s approximately behind you or maybe 10 your lefi, by 13 that piling?
14 s in that arca. 14 A. Yes. She was not in the part of the cockpit that
15 Q. Okay. What's this son of forward of the radar? 15 s visible in the photograph.
16  A. Forward of the radar s a light, 16 Q. When you say cockpit, you mean the deck afi of
17 Q. That's a white rectangular-shaped deck Light? 17 he wheelhouse?
18 A Yes 18 A, Correst.
18 Q. Okay. And where's the EPIRI? 19 Q. Soyouwould have -- The Tast place you would
20 A. The EPIRE is not visible in the photograph. It 20 have seen her is obscured by the piling; is that correct?
2% s in the wheelhouse, 10 would have been in a bracket 21 A. I's ebscured by a combination of the piling and
22 undemeath the window, well undemeath the window on the 22 the whecthouse, yos.
23 port side in the front. You can see that window in the 23 Q. Okay. So let's po back then to the survey and
24 picture. 24 have you just put an X where you last saw her. 'm going
Page 142 Page 144
1 Q. And why did you mount it inside of the 1 1o give you a red pen. I you coubd mark with an X where
2 wheelhouse? 2 your mather was where you last saw her,
1 A bmounted it inside the whecelhouse because - § 3 MR, SANTOS: And this is Page 19 of the
4 mounted it inside the wheethouse in ¢lose proximity to all 4 survey,
5 the other safety pear because it seemed sensible w have s A (Deponent complying).
6 he EPIRB mounted near the safety gear. And because 1 was & 0. Atthat time, would you please puta star where
7 - Inorder 1o activate the EPIRB, you had to physicatly 7 you were?
& aceess it and take it out of the bracket. M seemed like g8 A Well, I was moving from the hatch < Fwas
9 a goed phace w have it 9 moaving. so -
10 €. Have you ever heand of anybody phacing an EFIRD 10 Q. Show me where you were when you looked and saw
11 on abracket inside of a structuve rather than exposed on 11 your mother the Jast time. And depict that, please, with
2 the outside? 12 a live-pointed star.
13 AL Ive never heard specifically of how people - of 13 A Willan asterisk do?
14 how youw're supposed 1o place an EPIRE of that variety. 14 . ‘Thatllbe fine, Usean asterisk.
15 Q. Have you ever seen anybody place one inside 15 Now, you were nioving you suy. fn which
16 rather than cutside? 16 direction?
17 A, No, but | never would bave had oceasion to see an 17 A Dwasmoving fiom the hateh that | had looked
18 LPIRRB on someone else's boat. 18 into o the - to the starboard side in order 1o get o
1% Q. Didyou ever ask anybady whether it should be 19 (he wheelhouse beeapse the door wits on the starboard side.
2 mnurted inside or outside? 20 €. Okay. And how is it that you - Tel me how you
1 A, No, | did not 21 saw vour mother who was aft of you.
2z Q. Did you ever do any rescarch on the intenet o 2 Digd you e your bady? Did you wm your head?
23 find o itit should be mounted inside or ontside? 23 Tell me exactly,
24 A Bdidnot 24 A Yes. As Jwas getting up from -- Beeause Fwas
36 (Pages 141 to 144)
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Page 145

knecling, 1 bent down at the Iatch. As Twas gelting up.
| saw her,

Q. Okay. And where were you - And this fime, use a
star, where you were when the boat sank.

MR, SANTOS: Well. when the boat sank?
MR. FARRELL. When the boat went nose daw,
bow down.

A. (Deponent complying).

Q. Okay. And why don't you just sign that bottom of
the page i that red pen, il you wouldn't mind.

A. (Deponent complying).

Q. And would you date it too®

A, (Deponent complying).

Q. Thank you.

What kind of gear were you towing when you were
fishing just before it sank?

A, We were towing - Well, we were trolling with
some deep running lures, like Targe parlour type Tures and
we had surfitce baits, which included a couple daisy chains
and a cedar plug daisy chain that | had purchased from
people on Craigstist who were selling Wina lishing gear.

Page 147
Island?
A. That's correct,
Q. Where?
A. Southeast -- Let me picture a map in my head
here,
MR. SANTOS: On the 18t/
MR, FARRELL: This is on the moming of the
18h, ycah.

A. Okay. Soit's southeast of Block Island.
Q. Okay. Is there a geographic spot there that you
were lishing at that you ¢an refer us to?
A. .- No, | don't recall what the coordinates
were. M was a spot on the chariplotter that | had found.
Q. Okay. P'm going to ask you to -
MR. O'CONNELL: The one on the lefi.
BY MR. FARRELL:
Q. I'm going to ask you, Mr, Carma, to just --
First of all, with [his pen, can you show us where yout
departed from? Your can pull that chart closer to you if
you want.
MR, FARRELL: We'll mark (his as an exhibit,

22 Q. Okay. How many rods did you lave? How many 22 too. This will be 12
23 lines in the water? 23 (Exhibil No. 12, Chanl, marked for
24 A, There were a total of five Tines in the water, 24 idemifcation).
Page 146 Page 148
Q. Really? And lad you ever caught a tuisa fish 1 BY MR. FARRELL:
Ixefore? 2 Q. Okay. Sothis is going to be NOAA Chant 13285,
A. No, 3 Exhibit 12
€. What kind of twna fish were you fishing for? 4 And Mr. Cannan, where did you -+ Here's the
A, Inreality, anything that woutd bite, but 1 would 5 Harbor of Refuge.
assume that that weuld be a yellowdin or higeye wna, or 6 A Wedeparted from Point Judith, The marina where
evest mahi-mahi, which are not a species of tunn. 9 we departed from is not pictured here. It would be ofl of
0. And bad you ever caught any of those? 8 e chan.
A. Yes, | had caught mabi-mahi before. 9 Q. Tothe north?
Q. Where? 10 A, Tothe north,
Ao Ibeliove | caught mahi-mabi when fishing in 11 Q. Okay.
Flosida sith my mom, but 1 know for a fact that Teaught 2 A. But we exited the Harbor of Refuge approximately
them when fishing in Hawail, 13 here.
0. Butin New Englaned waters, hid you ever? 14 Q. On the southwest eatrance?
A Mo, 15 A Yes
(. Okay. What time did you depari the duck on the 16 Q. Okay. Andthen where were you fishing that -+
tip that sank -- (hat the boat sank? 17 You went fishing ofl of Block Istand you said on the
A, We departed the dock seatewhere between 11 pan.on 18 southeast comer?
Saturday the 17th and §2 - maybe 1230 2.m. on the [8th, 1% A. Comeet,
Q. Okay. And how long prior to 1100, which is the 20 Q. Okay. Can you depict that area?
carliest departure, had you finished putting the putty in 21 MR. SANTOS: Only il vou know. IFyou don't
the fowr holes o the tansony? 22 know, vou don't know.
A, Approximately six hours. 23 THE DEPONENT: Well, Tknow generally.
(). Okay. Amd you first went tishing off of Block 24 A. I you wai to find the coordinntes of my X and
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Page 149 Page 151
1 gothere, Tean't el you those are the procise - 1 Approximately an hour and a habt.
2 Q. Okay. | undesstand, Do you want to draw i 2 Q. Audthen you fished there about an hour and a
3 circle that's o general area? s st fiir cnough? 3 half?
4 A. T'd be more comfortable saving -- drawing an X 4 A, Yoes.
5 saying this is approximately where we were. 5 Q. Sousing thi math, what time did you depart the
& Q. That's fine. 6 X for Block Canyon 1o the south?
7 A. (Deponeat complying). 7 A Well if we lelt at midnight and we departed the
& Q. Okay., Youmarkedan X. 15 that where you were 8 X three hours afier widnight, then we would have departed
9 striper lishing? 2 the X ut three am.
10 A Yes 10 Q. Okay. There's been reports in the newspaper that
13 Q. 13id you catch anything there? 11 your mather bad no intetion of going Lo the eanyons: is
12 A, Wedid not. 12 that correct?
13 Q. Had you canght fish there before? 13 A. No,il's not correet in that when my mon and |
14 A, No 14 left the X, we both understood that we were going o the
15 Q. Whereis the wind fann? 16 canyons Lo go fishing and we were bath in full agreement
16 A, Thewind furm is depicied here. 16 wilh that.
17 Q. Inthe compass rose? Is it inside the compass 17 Q. Okay. And then how long did it take you to gel
18 rose? 18 to Block Canyon?
19 A Scveral of the towers -- of the wind farm that 19 A, Ittook approximately live hours,
20 are depicted are within the compass rose. 20 Q. Okay. And so you arrived there approximately
21 Q. Okay. And you had made u trip south of the wind 23 what time?
22 farm carlicr in 2016, you carhier testified? 22 A, Sotree i, plus - Approximately seven am,
23 A Yuos, 23 based on that mah,
24 Q. And where was - Where was that area? Can you 24 Q. Three plus -- Three plus four is seven, Three
Page 150 Page 152
1 depict it on this chant? 1 plus five is cight.
2 Ao Sure. Can [daw a line? 2 AL Sevenaan. is - Because | remember we were
3 Q. Yeah, go ahead. A rough line - 3 getting there shortly atter the sun came np and so T know
4 A. Suroughly. A ballpark. 4 she sun would have been up by 8:00,
5 Q. Allnght, Very good. 5 Q. Okay. Soit was around 7:00, you were at your
3 Now, how long were you fishing there at the X 6 southern terminus?
7 area where you were strper fishing? T A, That's miy best guess, yes.
8 A, An hour or so. & Q. Allmghi. And where wis that?
9 Q. Okay. Where did you go from there? 2 And T going to show you a bigger chiast, which
10 A, From there, we proceeded Lo Block Canyoen. 10 we'll mark as Exhibit 13, Thatll be Chart 12300,
11 Q. What timw did you depan the X area for Block 11 (Exhibit No, 13, Chast, marked for
12 Canvon? 12 idemtification).
12 A ldontknow. Fd be deducing based on how long 13 BY MR. FARRELL:
14 we spent there and how Tong it would have taken us to get 14 Q. Canyou, on this chart, sir, draw an X as 10
15 there. 15 where you ammived around 7:04 on the morming of September
16 Q. Go ahead i deduce. 16 18th?
17 A Well Iguess that it would have -- B should 17 A (Deponent complying).
18 have tuken us approaimately -- 1 . Okay, Now, having pat that X there, what - Why
14 MR. SANTOS: Don't puess. 19 did you choose that spot?
20 BY MR. FARRELL: 40 A Canyou clanfy?
21 Q. Well, let me ask you. 23 Q. - Fm-- Absolotely a good question. ' -- |
22 How long didh it take you to get trom Harbor of 22 was imprecise in ny questioning.
23 Refuge down to the X7 23 Did you have an intended spot tli you were
24 A That's what I'm teving to think ol 24 giming for in the Block Canyon area?
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Page 153 Page 155
1 A, I'mostillnot sure T understand, so et me el 1 that there were fish or bite going on in Block Istand --
2 vou how I'm answering your queskion. 2 Biock Canyon?
3 Q. Well Ty and make it clearer for you. 3 A Ihad spoken to the people st Saug Hurbor Maring,
4 A. Ub-huh, 4 They have a bait shop and 1 spoke to the people in that
5 Q. Okay. Whea you departed the X southeast of Block 5 shop asking them what the fishing was like offshore. |
6 Island where you were striper fishing, did you plug in any 6 asked them a couple times and they indicated Uit 3t was
7 coordinates in the Block Canyon arca that the GPS brought 7 uncertain, that nobody wants to b the first one fo go ot
8 you lo? 8 beeause you dont know what youll catch,
¢ Ao Yos, I did 9 To me, fishing generatly, and fishing in the
10 Q. Okay. 10 canvons as part of that, is very much about the activity
11 A The-- 11 offishing. You hope to catch things, but oflen times, my
12 Q. And what - And was that Jocation depicted by the 12 mom and 1 wouldnt catch anything when we went oul, We
13 X that yowve just driwn on Exhibit 137 13 still considered it a good wip.
14 A, Yes 4 So 1 had inquired about where the bite was. 1
15 Q. Okay. Andwhat -- What fuctors went inlo your 15 had received some reports that the fishing was uncertain,
16 decision to use that as your destination? 16 but not any bad reports saying a bunch of people went out
17 A, The fact that we were oing to be trofling Block 27 and caught nothing. And based on that, T thought it would
18 Canyon and that to do so, we'd be going in -- in a line 18 be nice 1o go to the canyons. And Block IsTand seemed to
19 parallel to the line of the canyon rather than 19 be the nearest canyon lo go lo,
20 perpendicular o it or olherwise, 20 . Had anylxxly reported catching anything in (he
21 The Fact that 1 wanted to start offshore and work 21 Block Canyen area?
22 inshore rther (than the other way around. And so starting 22 MR. SANTOS: Tohim?
23 at the southern end o the canyon and we wounld -- we were 23 MR FARRELL: Yeah.
24 toling porth. That would put us closer to shore when we 24 A. Inever heard anyone report catching fishin the
Page 154 Page 156
1 were petting ready to go home. 1 Block Canyon arca in that dime frame that we were going
2 Q. Okay. Andso what time did you start trolling 2 out
i north? 3 Q. Okay. Anddid you sce any boats oa your way
4 A, Westaned trolling right afer amiving, which 4 south?
5 would have been shortly after 7:00. 5 A Well, let me also say Uit [ know generally from
6 Q. Okay. Andhad you ever lished in this arca or 6 having read reports and so forth that Block Canyen is
7 within several dozen mites of s area depicted by the X 7 considered a good place to fish.
8 on Exhibit 137 & Q. No, but | -- My specilic question was during
g A. No, Thad never been out 1o the canyons before. 9 September 2016, had you heard any positive reports of
10 Q. What prompted you 1o go there? 10 peopte catching fish in the Block Canyon area?
11 A. |had been wanting to fish the canyons for a very 11 A As]answered, no.
12 long time, since we lisd the Titde 14-foot boat when 1 was 12 Q. Did you take ice with vou?
13 achild. 13 A. Did we take - [ think there was ice in the
14 My dad and [ had gone (o seminars on canyon 14 conler that my mam brought.
15 fishing and tuna fishing and that sert of thing when 1 was 15 Q. Andthal was Tor what, your foxl?
16 younger. It iad always been a dream of mine, When 16 A. Ithad fockl, it e bait -+ 1Uhad baitin itand
17 bought tie buat, the JC31, 1 did so with the intention ¢f 17 many fish that we cavght would have been thrown into the
18 getting o boat that 1 could take 1o the conyons. 18 cooler.
19 September, Aupust is the time of year when you go 19 Q. How big was that cooler”
20 canyon lishing, that's the time ol year when you caich 20 A, It was quite large. Maybe - Talking about
z1 things in the canyens. 21 ouside dimensions, 24 inchies by 60 inches.
22 And alk of those factors is what made e want 10 22 Q. Okay. Who put that ceoler enboard?
23 po fishing o the canyons. 23 A, My mom and | carricd it down,
24 Q. In 2006, had you tatked with anybody who reported 24 Q. Andwhat kind of food and supplies did you take
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1 with vou on the wip? 1 frem? Wee you able to discers thae?
2 A, Thad i bottle of lemonade that my mon and | had 2 A. No
3 purchased at Stop & Shop just belore leaving, We had the 3 Q. Andus Lasked, when you were heading down south
4 fishing rods, | kept both inshore and ofishere fishing 4 from Block Island wward Block Canyon. did you see any
5 rods en the boal. so they were both onboard along with 5 other vessel trallic?
& tackle for both inshore and oftshore fishing. & A No
7 Thiere was bait. soine of which my mom had brought, 7 Q. Andin your days aboard the lile rafi, did you
8 My mem brought mackerel, Fihink she brought soine sapetid 8 se¢ any other vessel Inftic hesides the Chinese
9 that - | have a lot of kait that she kept lrozen in her 9 freighter?
10 freezer and she wonld bring it every time we went fishing. 1o AL Yes I did
11 So most of that stadf, which included nickerel, squid and 11 Q. Whatdid you see?
12 mayhe some bunker she brought. | had -- 12 A. Onone occasion at night, Tsaw a - [eoubdat
13 Q. Was thit - What Jishery were you going to dirceet 13 sec the hull of the vessel, but § saw lights that wee -
14 these baits toward? 14 appeared to be fram -- 1 saw a ship in the form of Fights
15 A, We alsa brought live cels to go lishing, too. 15 quite a ways off near the edge of the horizon. And that is
16 Q. Was that ol for stripers? 16 the enly other vessel that T saw while on the life rafl.
17 A, Thelive cels were for stripers. 17 Q. And what bearing was it lrom yow: do you know?
18 Q. What about the mackere] and the squid? 18 A. No, 1 dont.
1% A. My mom brought those to go -~ [or us to go 19 Q. Doyou have any idea iF il was -- any idea it it
20 fishing with. We were planning on using the live eels for 20 was norili, south, east or west of you?
21 striped bass and when we leltthe dock, we wouldn't - 21 A. Hud a very difficult time extablishing bearings
22 weren't planning on using the bunker or anything clse tor 22 in the Lile rafl, so na, 1 would be really guessing. |
23 the striped bass. 23 cant do thal.
24 Q. What were you going to use them for? 24 Q. Okay. Soas you're trolling north. did you
Page 158 Page 160
1 A When we lefi the dock, our plan was to go fishing 1 notice any mateuvering charactenstics on the vessel
2 for striped bass in the vicinity of Block Island and [ ltad & change?
3 no immediate intent of using (he bunker unless maybe we 3 A, No. The - We were -- T was not trolling -- Ne,
4 decided to fish into the day inshore and then we would 4 | did not notice any mancuvering chatacteristics on the
5 haveused it on junking. 5 vessel change.
€ {). Youcerainly weren't planning (o use the 6 Q. Youwere on amepilot most of the time?
7 mackerel, the squid or e bunker for wak fishing or - 7oA Yoes
8 in the canyons; is that correct? g Q. Andwere you just sioply heading back toward
g A Atthe lime we tefi the dock, the reason that was 9 Block Iskand?
10 onbeard was net Jor tana fishing. 10 A Yoes
11 Q. Okay. How fast did you troli as you were heading 1Y Q. Andhow long did you intend 1o troli?
12 norih? 12 A, Wewonld have trofled until - | don't remembeer
13 A Wewere trolling - Fwas varying the speed 1 whether we had sgreed to -- F'm peelty sure that we agreed
14 perindically between maybe four and six knots. 14 (o leave so as to be back at the dock around six or around
15 . Okay. And did you -- What was the weather 15 when it wonld be getting dark, which we - We wanted 1o be
16 condition? 16 back at the dock around when it would te getting gk and’
17 A The weather conditions atmospherically were 17 we figured how long it would take us 1o get from the
18 elear, the sea conditions were not rough. There wasa 1R canyon to the dock.
19 swell, but it was -~ whatt | deseribe as a sighing wave, 19 Q. Sowhat time would you kave hauled back on your
20 so il wast perfectly flal, but the waves were widely 20 fines and stardted steaming toward Block Istand iand
21 spaced. And maybe the highest from trough 1o erest, maybe 21 finished fishing?
22 four feet, but that's a very wide space between trough and 27 AL AL this time, don't remember what our plan was
23 corest 273 hecause | don't remember what time sunset was at that
24 Q. Okay. And what directivn was the swell coming 24 particular time.
40 {(Pages 157 to 160)
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1 Q. Andvou said midday, but do you have any more 1 autopilol.
2 specific time as o when the vessel sank? 2 Q. You used autopilot and GPS points to detenmine
3 A No, 1donot, 3 that you would he coming up sort of the heart of the
4 Q. Anddo yau have an ability 1o show s where on 4 canyon moving up the cantinental shelf’to the north?
5 this chart the vessel sank? 5 A Yos
& A, |could estimate (hat it sank approxinniely 6 0. Okay. And so going through that line, you were
7 hallway between where we started and the edge ol the 7 going through like the heart of the walls of the canyen
8 canyon. Soif 1dmw an X here haltway between -- 8 and (hen heading north From there?
9 Q. Let's make itan astenisk. 9 A Yes,
10 A. Okay. Soprobably halfway between the Xand the 10 Q. Youdont know exactly where you were where you
11 asterisk. 11 sank?
12 Q. Why doyousay -- Okiy. Why do you say that? 12 A That's correst.
13 What's the asterisk represent” i 0. But -- How many heurs afler you started fshing
14 A, Fhat's the direction in which we were trolling, 14 at seven or so did the sinking occur?
15 Q. Al right. Sosomewhere in between you say? i5 A Approximately five hours,
16 AL Yes. 16 Q. Okay. How many days were you in the Hle rft?
17 Q. Okay. Sojust forno -- For lack of better 17 A, Seven days,
18 reference, the 140 fathom mark looks to be about hatfvay 18 Q. Whathappened to your mother?
19 in between? 19 A. When the boat sank, 1 did not -- 1 found myself
20 A, Suore. don't know what the scale of this map 20 in the water, [wasn't able to Jocate her.
21 s, so | don't know if that asterisk is - Ldon't know 21 Q. Did she go down with the vessel?
22 what the scale of this map is. 22 A. lknow she was a strong swimmer. The seas were
23 Q. Well, all that asterisk is doing is showing you @ 23 ot reugh. J dow't know it 1 would have heen able 1o see
24 direction, right? 24 her head some distance from me, especially ot being high
Page 162 Page 164
1 A, Yes, but it's also showing a distanee and 1 den't 1 above the water becanse there was that swell, but T think
2 know what the distance between here und there would be. 2 i most dikely becanse she was a strong swinmner that she
3 Soit's somewiere in the dircetion of the asterisk. 3 was not conscions on the surface afler the boat sank.
4 Q. Okay. Did you have a depih sounder? 4 Because i1 she was, she would hiave been able te swim. She
5 A Yes 5 wontld have been able 1o sec the life mit and she would
6 0. Didil - Did you have readings coming off of the € have been able to hear me and she wonld have responded 1o
7 depih sounder? 7 me calling out to lwer,
g8 A, Notthat showed the depths af - The depth 6 Q. Sowasshe somehow aflisxed to the vessel when it
@ sounder was functioning. but it was not showing the depth 9 went down? Is that your conclusion?
10 because it was so deep. 10 A, ldow'tknow if she - if when the bow drapped.
11 Q. Okay. Areyou saying that the vessel sank like 11 she either struck her Iead or struck a limb such that she
12 in the middte of the canyon as depicted here in the chart 12 was cither unconscivus or unable 1o swim. Ldon'tknow if
13 where there actualy is a drap off on the bathymetric 12 she pot angled in the fishing line or got & hook caupht
14 lines or whatever shey're cafled? 14 on her, which would have conrected her to an 80-pound test
15 A, Alllcan sy is -- AlETean say is thal we 15 rod, or if she got tangled in the dock lines that were in
16 stwied somewhere in the vicinity of the X teolling north 16 the cockpit.
17 within Bleck Canyon -- within the walls of Block Canyon, 17 I don't know why she didn't make the lile it
18 aud that the boat sank after we started wolling north. 18 butall of those seem to be possible explanations 1o me,
19 We started teolling nesth around seven and the boat sank 13 Q. Okay. And there was no sound because the engine
20 around midday. We were trolling between four and six 22 was turned off.
21 knots, 21 A, That's conecl,
22 Q. How do you know yout were in the walls of Block 22 Q. And you didn't hear any voice or seream of help
23 Canyon? 23 from her of any sost?
24 A, Beeause of the heading that | had on the a6 AL Notthat Fperceived. | don't -- fn that instant
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1 when the boat sank, it feels like 1 lost my senses for o 1 pair of pants made out ot a similar material, and

2 period of time, Oue secend 1 wis walking forwand and the 2 obviously the life vest.

3 pext second ' in the water. | don't know how acute iy 3 (Exhibit No. 15, E-Mails, marked for

4 senses would have been in that fiaction of a second, which 4 identification).

5 s also when any call for help woutd most likely have 5 BY MR, FARRELL:

& come, but 1 did not receive any calk from lwer. 6 . Had you changed your clothes from when you

7 Q. And you dide't hear anything from her after you 7 departed?

8 told her to reel in the lines? 8 A Yes Hhad.

g A No. 1was focused on wiat | was doing and she 9 Q. What had you worn when you departed from Poim
10 was focused on wiat shie was doing. 1¢ Judith? Whal did you have on wlen you departed Point
11 Q. So youheard nothing rom her sinee saying reel 11 Judith?

12 in the lines? 1 just want to make sure about thin, 12 A. had on Grunden outerwvear, And right now, |
13 A, Well. she responded yes, [ will reel in the 13 don't remember what chothing |had on under the Grundens.
14 14 Q. And when did you change clothing?
15 After that, did you hear anything from her? 15 A Alter getting into the life rafl.
16 A, Wewerent talking alter | asked her o reel in 16 Q. Okay. I'mhanding you Exhibit 15.
17 the lines. 17 Con you flip trough that ond el me what that
18 Q. Okay. How did the life rall deploy? 18 is?
19 It deployed awomatically. 1% A, Thisappears to be an e-mail that [ sent to
20 Q. And how long were you in the water hefore you 20 Martha Chatlesworth, the adjuster on my inserance claim,
231 werein the life rafit? 21 responding to her request for the inveice showing that the
22 A. A brief period ol time. When 1 was in the water 22 engine had been the subject of a previous claim, it was in
23 and the boat was gone, | saw the fife raft, the bag that ] 23 faet replaced. And also responding to her request that |
24 was holding and tie other safety gear was in close 24 give a written statement of the accident.

Page 166 Page 168

1 proximity to me. wis able to collect the safety gear 1 Q. And what prompted your getting in touch with her

2 and get to the life il So minutes, 2 initially -- with Boat U.S. initilly?

3 Q. Okay. And you climbed in the dife mli then? 3 A, Feontacted Boa ULS. in order to lile u claim

4 A Yes, 4 bevause the boat had sank.

5 Q. Okay. Did you at any peint cheek the trnsom as 5 Q. Andwhen did vou type up that statement?

G you were sinking? € A 1typed up that statement after Martha hud asked

7 A. No,iuever checked anything aft of the hatch on 7 me to give a written statesnent to insurance. T think it

8 the por side of the cockpit. 8 was at least several days afterwards, Thad -- hwasa

G MR FARRELL: Let's tske a break. 9 very cuotional time for me, as you can imagine, and it
10 (OAY the record at 4:28 pan.) 10 wasn't my top priority, but it is something that 1 did get
11 {Exhibit Ne. 14, Photegraph, marked (o 11 done us quickly as [ was able w after she had asked lor
12 identitication). 12 1,

11 {Back on the record at 4:37 pm.) 13 Q. So you c-mailed it to her on October 19th.

14 BY MR FARRELL: 14 Waould it be fair to say that you completed this

15 Q. Solmhanding you Exhibit 14, What's that 15 statemeent that's part of Exhibit 15 around thal dute?

16 depict? 16 A, Yes, shortly before that day.

17 A Thatis a pictuse of me being brought up the 17 Q. Okay.

18 gangway of the freighter that reseund nte when they réseued 18 MR FARRELL: Why don't we niake this an

19 19 exhibit, loo?

20 Q. What were vou wearing it that thse? 20 {Exhibit No, 16, Letter, marked for

21 A ALt tinee, Fwas wearing elothing that had 21 idemtification).

22 been in the - what Bd call the safety gear thit was kept 22 BY MR. FARRELL:

23 on the toat, which incluided a fishing shint, which isa 23 Q. This is a fetter that your tawyer had sent me and

24 lipht fabric button-down long-slecved shirt, and also a 24 we have it in the exhibits already, but I'm just giving it
42 (Pages 165 to 168)
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1 toyowas a standalone. This is the one we talked about boat, Canman amrived on the evening of Friday Sepranber
2 earlier as the one thal was sent o Attomeys Narding and 161h.
3 Boyle. 3 Well, yes, Lamived on the evening of Seplembrer
4 Have you read this letter? 4 16th, which was nit a day of the weekend and it was not
5 A Yes Thave 5 the weekend before, it was the weekend ol
6 Q. Okay. Is iere anything factually incorrect 6 Now, on Page 3 in the fimst fulf paragraph or the
7 that's stated in that letter? 7 first seclion that is warked with a round circke, it says.
& A, There areacouple of -« }reed this better last 8 This created holes above the water line, but none below
9 night in preparation Jor this meeting and I did notice a 9 the water line, There were four holes about the size of a
10 couple of things that 1'd like to point out as pussibly 10 hatf dellar.
11 clarifying. possibly conecting them, 11 That is true. There are also thiree holes per
12 Do you mind it 1 take out my copy of (his letter 12 serew hole for o total of 12 serew holes - excuse me --
13 where [ highlighted what I'd like o paint ow? 13 three heles per hatt dollar sized hole. So there were
14 Q. Yougonght ahead, Sure. 34 total of 12 serew holes, plus those four.
15 A, Iljust go over my hotes and then point oul (o 15 Q. But those 12 screw holes, were they - did they
16 you what [ saw. 16 go all the way through the hall?
17 One chaification - 17 A |dont know.
18 MR. SANTOS: Why don't you make a reference 18 Q. They might have?
19 ftothe page and the paragraph? 19 A. Yes, they might have, but 1was not able to
20 THE DEPONENT: Yes, Okay. 20 establish whether or not they did.
21 BY MR. FARRELL: 21 Q. Adlnight.
22 Q. Goahead. 2 A, And then on the last page, so we're now on Page
231 A, Sure. One clarilication thin Id like o make on 23 4, under the fisst bullet, second to last line, it says,
24 TPage 2 in the sub-buller marked with a black square on the 24 Cannan and his mother abso went fishing at night on one
Page 170 Page 172
1 (hird parapruph is it says, One particular issue was that 1 occasion,
2 water was entering the hull through the rudder stufting 2 We actually went fishing at night on two other
3 box, 3 oceasions. One was the Jast time -- When we spent three
4 And 1'd clarify that it appearcd to be at that 4 days fishing together in Riiodde Istand, we went fishing at
5 time eatering through the swffing box. And it was kater 5 night on one occasion there and one oeeasion subsequent o
6 established thm water was entering not through the 6 that. Both times for striped bass,
7 siulting box itself, but trom between the stuffing box 7 Andl then the last bullet point, again on Page 4,
& the hull, meaning that (he stuiting box wasn't sealed to 8 | had several - [ picked up on several things here. Fin
9 the hwlt properly. 5 not sure iFthey're matters of clarification or matters of
ic Q. Okay. 10 jnaccuruey, so let me read it
11 A, And i the next parageaph, which is Paragraph 4 11 So talking about Page 4, on the fast bullet
12 marked by a whtite circle, it says, The boat was purchased 12 poimt, it says, Paint Judith said this was nonual. but
13 in December 2015 and Carman pitoted back to South 13 Carman asked them to inspeet it any way,
14 Kingston, Rhode Island. During this trip, the boat's 14 My first conversution with Point Judith Marina
15 engine did not seom o be at full power. 15 abaut my observation of oil in the bilge, Tim Green who
16 That is partially true, During part of the trip, 16 was a representative of PIM, told me that it was not
17 the boat's engine did nut seem to be at full power, The 17 normal for there to be any oit in the bilge froma -«
18 first half of the trip, it was rusning fing. 1 ihen 18 now engine, And he also kol me that there should be ro
15 paused, took a break, and when | tricd to get underwiy 19 blow-by froma new engine. And I helieve the enly blow-by
20 again, [ wasi't geiting tull power. So during part ol the 20 would have come cat of the breather tube, He said there
21 frip, the engine was not it Tulf power. 21 should have been no blow-by, so it shouldnt matter hiat
22 And again, a clarification is en the last 22 the breather tube was venting into the bilpe.
23 paragraph of Page 2, the Tast bullet under the heading 23 I he mechanic s not the person who told we that
24 Repairs, it says, The weekend before the sinking of the 24 the oil in the bilpe is minimal, bt sitting on top of
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1 water. That quote is from an c-mail that, according to my 1 Q. Okay,
2 recollection, was sent to me by Fim Green. | don't know 2 A Can | put my copy of the fetter away?
3 i the mechanie told hin, but | den't remember the 3 Q. Nou can put your letter away. Yes.
4 mechanic telling me, Lremember Tim Green telling me and 4 Dil you review anything else in preparation for
S Tim Green is aot o mechanic, or at least not (o my 5 today?
& kaowledge. 6 A, lreviewed the invoices thut were sent Lo you 1o
7 And it s tnre at the end tiat when | followed up 7 relresh my familianty with them and Ispoke Lo my
& by plione afer they had inspected the boat, they now said 8 altomey, iy other than that, ne.
9 {his was nomial and made me feel like | was being 9 Q. InTExhibit 9, do you see tat v-maii?
10 unreasonable for pressing them about the issue. And | 10 A, Yes, [see the e-mail that you have here.
11 thought that because |- 1dont know a lot about divsel 11 0. Who's Holly Abrams?
12 engines, | know very, very litthe, And what T know. | 12 A Tdon't know.
13 leamed from asking a mechanic at PIM. 3o T thought that 13 Q. Do you remember seeing this e-mail?
14 they must be right, and | wasn't secing any perfonnance 14 AL Yes, the text of the e-mail looks Tamiliar o me.
15 issues with the engine, so | didn't pursue my complaint 15 1 have no idea who Hobly Abrams is and 1 woulda't have
16 further. 16 toked at the -- at the other data.
17 Q. So besides the four balled-up picces of paper 17 MR. SANTOS: Canlsecilt?
18 towel that you stuck in the holes on the transom and the 18 BY MR. FARRELL:
19 twbe of ¢poxy that you bought from West Marine and the -~ 19 Q. Did you ever use an e-mail Ranpoint@AQL.com?
20 the tube of 3200 and the Aberglass kit that you didn't 20 A. No. Did - What do you mean by - Did | send
21 end up using, you didn't do anything clse to try and Jill 21 e-mails 1o that address or was that the adidress at which ]
22 the holes that were on the transom? 22 yeecived?
23 A, No, Fdid not. 23 . Yeah, that you received.
24 Q. And what —- How bong did you talk with the Coast 24 A, | never received e-mails a that address, o,
Page 174 Page 176
1 Guard after you came 1o shore? 1 Q. Did you ever send any 10 (hat address?
2 A, | alked to them 1'd say extensively. | dony 2 A. Tdop't know, Tknow 1sent c-mails 10 Ram Point
3 know the duration of the inteeview, but I believe | 31 Murina, [ don't recall which address they used.
4 answered all of their questions, 1 Q. Okay. How certain are you with that X that you
5 Q. Okay. & drew on (he chart for where vou started trolling? Coubd
6 A. A couple hours., 6 it have been sowh of there?
7 Q. Okay. And what abow — And then there was a 7 A, Yoes, it could have been. As | said, | don't know
8 search warrant a1 your house? 8 the scale of the map and so 1-- Pleeing things on the map
g A That's comrect. 9 is challenging. Fhat's my best guess, bug it could have
10 Q. And what was -- Do you krow what the search 10 heen south of there.
11 warrant was for? 11 Q. Ckay. What abous this crossover hose valve that
12 A, Dhave a copy of whiat the judge sipned saying 12 was referenced in the sepair records? Do you remembsr
13 whin it's authorized for. Aside from that exact limguage, 13 th issue?
14 | don't know what it's for. We conkl gel you that exact 14 A, Idoremember Point Judith Marina bringing it up
15 language, but d just be trying to revall # here, 15 tome. We're alking about the fuel wnks now, if [
16 Q. Okay. Have there been other - Have you been 16 umderstand?
17 interviewed by ather law enforcement? 17 Q. Right
18 A, Yes. Afer speaking o the Coist Guard, | 18 A. 1do remember Point Judith Marina bringing thi
19 submilted to an interview liom Detective Bucco, whol 19 uptome. Thal was alse something thas Fad spaken o
20 understand 1o be u detective of the South Kingstown Police 20 the marine surveyor about in phone conversations we hid
21 Department, and 1 interview -+ T did thitt interview with 21 when he was doing the survey, though ! don't believe
22 him right alter speaking to the Coast Guand, right after 1 22 appeared in s final survey report.
23 gotio land. And that's the only otier iterview that 23 The surveyor had told me that the way that was
24 I've done witl law enforcement. 24 designed was standard and typical, and he did not mention
44 (Pages 173 to 176)
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Page 179

wespect, and | base that on my knowledge of the Titerature
frony the package and my knowledpe of 113, Weld being that

-
L=

given her -- 1had agreed with her nos that 1 would never
go out on the boat alone, but that any time | was planning

1 jtas something in noncompliance with any set standard. 1 Q. Andhow long is the whole stick?
z So 1 beliove that when PIM advised me to make @ 2 A. Trying 1o recall sitting here, I'd say six 1o
3 repair to that, that ey were not being forthright in 3 cight incis in length.
4 {heir motives for asking me o make that repair. | 4 Q. Thask you very much.
5 thought they were trying (o get me 1o pay them more o do s Now, Tjust want  make sure you understand,
& something that didn't need 1o be done beeause the sunveyor 6 we're going 1o pel you this transcript to review and if
7 had indhicated to me tiat there was ne issue. 7 there’s anyting. as |said, that is mistyped, you knew. a
8 Q. Did you ever check the - Well, et me -+ Were g mistake in transcribing your words, you get achance 1o
g there specitications or information provided in that cpoxy 9 fix that.
10 stick in Gic -- What was there, a [liee on the inside that 10 MR. FARRELL: Would you like 1o have him sign
11 came with the produet? 11 itand review?
12 A Yes 12 MR, SANTOS: Yeah, | think so.
13 Q. Okay. Do you still huve that? 13 MR FARRELL: We'll get it to you in a couple
14 A Let meclarify. Yes, there was o ier on the 14 weeks.
15 inskde that came with the product. 15 MR SANTOS: Okay.
16 Q. Okay. Did you -- Do you still have that? Was 16 BY MR. FARRELL:
17 that sill - Did you leave that in your truck? 17 Q. Is there anything else about your testimony thal
12 A, No, Lwould have either discarded the empty 18 you want to change at this poim?
19 package. If there was any leftover, | would have put it 19 A, No, there'snol. T would like to -- No, there's
20 inmy tool kit on the boat, or there's a possibility thal 20 not.
21 the package would be in the truck. 21 Q. Okuy. Is there anything you want to add?
22 Q. Okxay. Didyou use ol of that product? 22 A, Frecall that there was a point in the - whent
23 A. |don't think [used all of it. Fthink | used 23 asked if L cowld have an opportunity to elarify something.
24 most of it, but | think there was a hitle bit lefiover. 24 Pm uying to think of exactly where we were at there.
Page 178 Page 180
1 Q. Okay. Showing you Exhibit &, 1 Yes, so regarding our - ny nwon's and my
2 15 it your understanding that the epoxy stick was 2 understanding when we left the dock and how that
3 penmanent repair? 3 understanding changed.
4 A Yesitis ] We had -- My niom and [ had intended to go striped
5 Q. And you basc that on what? 5 bass fishing, we had inshore fishing ros onboard the
€ A, Fbase that on the literature in the package and 6 boat, we had eels and so forth. My mom also had expressed
7 inmy understanding of J.B. Weld, which I considered the 7 convem in the past about me poing out on the boat. She's
8 product 1o be identical w 113, Weld in every prictical & a mother, that's the basis of her concern. And 1 had
9
10
11

=
&)

P
P B N

[FPRN
LEa T

20

it hardens strong as steel or practically strong as steel

and ¢an e used above ard below (he water tine and is -- |
believe the packige even says that its soitable tor
permanent repairs. 'k not positive that the package says
that specilically.

. Did the hiterature inside it make that statement?

A, H pave me that impression,

Q. Allright, You think there was extra. Did you
leave the extea in your truck or 15 it in the boat?

AL No, ifthere was extin, and P pretty sure thut
there was, Twould have put i in the tool kit that T hept
onboard the boat. Theie would have been a very sinalt
antaunt of extra. | think it was just an inch or two of
the whole stick.

R e b e
L R

19
20
21
22
23

24

to go out, I would ofler hier an apportunity to join me.
And that was the compromise thit we had struck.

So on (he way out, Etold her that [ was plarning
on poing out 1o the canyons in the coming days and that it
she wanled to go with me, that she could. She was working
that week and we agreed that Twould -- that we would go
out thit evening atd - that day, rther than me going out
alone later in the week.

Q. Okay. Anything else?

A, No.
Q. Allright, Thank you very much, sir.
A Yes.

MIL SANTOS: Thank you.
(Txamination of Nathan Caraan concluded at 5:04 p.ov)

45 (Pages 177 to 180}

Legal Services

265 Franklin St., Suile 1702 | Boslon, MA 02110
617.846.8100 | blackiabellegalservices.com




EXAMINATION UNDER OATH OF NATHAN CARMAN

-

R

o

B

o™

Page 181

CERTIFICALE

LONATHAN CARMAN, heteby certify undar
the pains and penalties ol pegjury that 1 have read the
foregaing transeeipt of my festimony and further eentify

that said transeript is 2 tsue and accurate record of my

7 testimony Gwith the exceptions of the corrections,
& additions, amd deletions noted Ixlow),
¢ PAGE LINE CORRECHIONS, ADIMTIONS ANTHOR DELETIONS
0 _ . o o
11 o B B
1z i
13 3 )
14
o R S
6 . ~ _ -
7 - ) )
w8 o
19 T — B P . T
20 Signed under the pains and penaltics of pegury
21 this  dayel 2087,
22
23
24 NATHAN CARMAN
Page 182
1 COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
2 SHIFOLK COUNTY
3 [, Lawren Sullivan Gardner, Professional
4 Shoerhand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the
5 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, do hereby centify that the
6 witness whose testimony is hiereinbefore set fonh, was
7 duly swort and identified and that this transcriptis a
8 true record of the testimeny given by the witness.
o I Further certify that 1 am neither related 1w or
10 employed by any of the parties in or counsel to this
11 action, nor am | financiadly interested in the ontcome of
12 this sclion.
13 Lo witness whereof, Fave set my hand and seal
34 this 3ed day of Linuary, 2017,
15
15
17 | auren Sullivan Gardoer, Notary Public in and
18 tor the Commonwealth of Massachusctts
12 My Commission Expires: September 26, 2019
20
21 Please Note: The foregoing centifieation of this
22 transeript does not apply (o any reproduction of the same
23 by any means unless under the direet contrel and/er
24 supervision of the centifying court reporter.
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